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SHAREHOLDERS’ CALENDAR
Register of Shareholders

Close of Register

For attending Annual General Meeting:

14 June 2012 to 21 June 2012 (both days inclusive)
For receiving proposed final dividend:

28 June 2012 to 29 June 2012 (both days inclusive)

Annual General Meeting

10:00 a.m. on or about 22 June 2012 at
Room 601-602, 6th Floor

Top Glory Tower

262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Dividend

Interim dividend: HK12.9 cents per share

Paid on 25 November 2011

Proposed final dividend: HK10.8 cents per share
Payable on or about 16 July 2012
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MISSION

AND VISION
EHREE

Maximize shareholders’ value
FEERREERKL
]

Strengthen corporate governance and
achieve international environmental standards
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Maintain as the market leader in the cigarette packaging
printing industry in the People’s Republic of China
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GEOGRAPHICAL

COVERAGE
1h 150 £ [

Qingdao 55

Kunming E#

Qingdao Leigh-Mardon Packaging Co.,
Ltd. ("Qingdao Plant”)
EERSRELERLAE ([58KE))

Kunming World Grand Colour Printing
Co., Ltd. ("Kunming Plant”)
ERERFOARLR ([EFAKE])

Cigarette packaging printing plant

Cigarette packaging printing plant
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Cigarette packaging printing plant
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Transfer paper and laser film manufacturing plant
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GEOGRAPHICAL COVERAGE
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Nanjing B3R

Nanjing Sanlong Packing Co., Ltd.

(“Nanjing Plant”)
ER=EEBRERQAE ([MREE])

Cigarette packaging printing plant
HEBEENRIRR

Beijing it X

Beijing Leigh-Mardon Pacific Packaging
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Plant”)
ERBEIRFFEEERQAP ([EREE])

Cigarette packaging printing plant
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Dongguan X%

Dongguan KWG Colour Printing Co.,
Ltd. ("‘Dongguan KWG")
REERFDERAAE ([REER])

Cigarette packaging printing plant
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Hangzhou HiM
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Hangzhou Weicheng Printing Co., Ltd.

("Hangzhou Weicheng")
FUNERENRIBBR DR ([HUNERK D)

Cigarette packaging printing plant
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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To sustain our
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In the cigarette packaging
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors’),
| am pleased to present to you AMVIG Holdings Limited (the
“Company” or "AMVIG’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (the

“Reporting Period”).

As discussed in our previous reports, we have been facing
increasing competition resulted from more aggressive tendering
approach adopted by some tobacco groups in certain provinces.

2011 is no exception.

Despite the fierce competition and the changing competitive
landscape, AMVIG has managed to deliver another year of solid
financial results. | am proud to report that 2011 has been another
break-through year as we registered our highest revenue to date
as our Group turnover grew by HK$719 million or 27% for the
year ended 31 December 2011. This is the result of the Group's
consistent strategic approach and the management’s ability to take
advantage of the opportunities arising from the tobacco industry
consolidation process, particularly in the rising demand for mid to

high-end cigarette brands.

According to the annual conference report of State Tobacco
Monopoly Administration (“STMA”"), the tobacco industry has again
sustained a stable growth in production volume for 2011. The
annual production was 48.49 million master cases, which is an
increase of 3% as compared to 2010. During the year, the provincial
China National Tobacco Corporations (“CNTC") have implemented
the “532" and "461" strategies as advocated by STMA. Accordingly,
12 brands have achieved annual volume exceeding 1 million master
cases and 9 brands have achieved annual sales exceeding RMB400
billion. Yunyan and Shuangxi, two of the major brands served by
the Group, have achieved annual volume of 2 million and 3 million
master cases respectively. Both brands achieved a gross sales
value exceeding RMB600 billion in aggregate. The above statistics
indicated that both brands have not yet reached its targeted
optimum. For the years to come, we envisage tobacco groups in
certain provinces to further consolidate with the top leading brands

continue to capture more market shares in other provinces.

BAIIR ¢

K)\éﬁi\%/i%ﬁ BB R A A (MK Al %
MERER] ERENBRARSGHERIRE
B E=S (Fé%l) g (Fi%éﬂ) IR 25 B $R
BE-Z——F+T-A=+—HIUMBFE
(TREME]) 2 F5H -

A2 AR & Fam il - ARNE T SESHE
E%%éh?%@mﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ'ﬁﬁ—ﬁ
HRASAR BT - —B——F I -

BREAEBRFEREREBESE I RFHEY R
PHERMB AL - BAGEEE =T ——
FEEBRIFS  ANR F‘ZE% BE
RE=BA - MEIZAA%%EEAEQI*T——
F+ZA=+—R1EFEENM719,000,0007% 7T
27% c ML E Mz 4R - 2RAEE -8B
HEE ST RERERRNMIEREETERS
EREECKS  LHEPSERBESESRK
EAMEE S -

EEXEEZER ((BRXEEZER]) HF

SEHBE  BETER T ——FEEBX
REBTEEE  FEE 54849000084 © &
TR -TEHER3% - FA ARFREETEAN
A ([FEESEEAR]) E;mﬂal%kﬁﬁﬁ
EREE 2 [532] k461 K - At » 1218
o EE%ﬁiﬁgf@m,ooo,ooofﬁ * OffEl Gh h2
BERFHERBBAARKL000ET - AEE
REHMEEXrZEREEEREENFEEE D
713 £X2,000,00048 53,000,00048 * It B A G 2
ERHEAREE BB ARK600018T o £t
FEHFTRE - MERBHERREIERER
28R BMETETEONEESEKE
—SHELEREES  BEFIHEHMENES
TS DEE



With this continuous growth and consolidation of the tobacco
industry, AMVIG may have a reasonable opportunity to pursue
growth arising from the increased concentration of the top leading
brands. For the year, our sales to these customers have increased
well beyond our expectation. In view of the uncertain state of the
global economy, the slower growth in China and the competitive
business environment, we have to expect there may be certain
negative factors that may be unforeseen. However, we are prepared
to do our best to counteract any unfavourable circumstances if they

arise.

AMVIG's vision is to sustain our leading position in the cigarette
packaging industry in China. To realize this mission, we need
a strong management team who excels, leads innovation for
differentiation and is responsive to customer needs in terms of
service second to none in the industry. | am therefore greatly
indebted to my management team for their continuous support
and devoted commitment during the year and also to all our staff
members who have in their own field, contributed to the Group in
achieving its best financial results. It has been an honor to serve this

great business.

On 2 December 2011, Mr. David Hodge had resigned as Non-
executive Director. He has served more than 5 years on the
Board since 2006. | wish to sincerely thank David for his valued
contributions to the Group during his period of service. With effect
from the same day, Mr. Jerzy Czubak was re-appointed as Non-
executive Director to replace Mr. David Hodge. The Board would like

to express its warmest welcome to Jerzy in rejoining the Company.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s turnover was HK$3,370 million,
an increase of 27% as compared to last year. Profit attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$548 million in 2011, a decrease of 4%
from HK$571 million when compared to last year. Basic earnings per
share were HK59.3 cents representing a decrease of 1.5%. However,
excluding (1) the one-off non-operating items of HK$49 million
mainly resulted from the gain on disposal of Brilliant Circle Holdings
International Limited in 2010; and (2) the employee share-based

compensation benefits of HKS21 million resulted from the granting
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of share options to senior management in 2011, the underlying
profit attributable to owners of the Company increase by 9% from
HK$522 million in 2010 to HK$569 million in 2011.

The net cash flows generated from operating activities for the
Reporting Period was approximately HKS717 million and after
the payment of approximately HK$100 million final dividends to

shareholders, the free cash flow was approximately HKS617 million.

As the leading producer of cigarette packaging in China, AMVIG is
committed to providing the processes, facilities, standard training,
discipline and work culture to ensure a safe work environment for

all employees.

During the year, fire and safety education campaigns were launched
in some of our plants with the local fire service departments in
order to educate and train the workers in the handling technique
of fire equipments. As a result, it further helps to cultivate a proper
and attentive attitude towards fire awareness and prevention within

the working premises.

On the health aspect, the Group aims to create consciousness of
employees’ health. Accordingly, each worker has a health book to
monitor their health conditions and a yearly complimentary body

check has been successfully implemented in our plants.

We are committed to adopting a serious approach to environmental
protection and enhancement. Such approach includes optimizing
resource consumption efficiently to reduce wastage, developing
innovative processes to reuse and recycle resources. We are obliged
to comply with all applicable environment regulations and reduce

pollution.
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Going forward, with China’s targeted growth lowered, there will be
both challenges and opportunities facing the cigarette packaging
printing industry in China. On one hand, competition has increased
intensively resulting from more aggressive tendering systems and
on the other hand, there are new opportunities for AMVIG to gain
more market share left behind by smaller printers who are not able
to compete effectively and fail to survive during the consolidation
process. For the years ahead, we believe that the China tobacco
market will continue to grow and consolidate albeit at a slower
pace. Against the backdrop of fierce competition, there will be
increasing pressure on our profit margin in order to maintain a
volume growth. With the changing competitive landscape, AMVIG
has to stay capable and responsive to the risks and challenges
confronting it in the near future. The management is expecting a
very tough and unfavourable business environment ahead in 2012.
The strong organic growth as experienced by the Group in recent

years may not be able to sustain.

Nevertheless, | believe that with the appropriate strategies in place,
the benefits derived from our economies of scale, healthy financial
position, close customer relationship, advanced process know-how
and, above all, our committed management team, AMVIG should be
able to withstand the short-term challenges arising from changing

competitive landscape.

On behalf of the AMVIG Board, | would like to thank all the
shareholders, for demonstrating their confidence and patience
in the Group. The Group will continue to pursue its dual-growth
strategy approach as planned, and will strive to deliver long-
term value to our shareholders. Last but not least, | wish to record
my sincere appreciation to our valued customers, suppliers and
business associates for their stalwart commitment and support

during this turbulent time.

Chan Chew Keak, Billy

Non-executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012
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The management of AMVIG is pleased to report another satisfactory
financial result for 2011. The strong tobacco consumption and
continuous consolidation of the tobacco industry in China, together
with management’s efforts in developing the market underpinned a

satisfactory performance in 2011.

According to the strategies (namely “532" and “461") proposed by
CNTC, tobacco industry is now shifting the focus on developing
their leading brands to pursue higher profitability and productivity
in their product portfolios within the five-year time. As a result of
the consolidation, weaker brands will be cannibalized by premium
brands and consequently product mix of tobacco has started to
shift to the higher end. The Group has benefited from this trend of
industry consolidation as our product mix is composed of mainly

mid to high end products. During the Reporting Period, AMVIG
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has successfully continued to be the major supplier to two of the
six selected leading brands according to the abovementioned
development strategies (6 brands are targeting to achieve sales

volume exceeding 2 million master cases by 2016) set by the CNTC.

On the other hand, increasing competition due to more aggressive
application of tendering systems by certain tobacco groups has put
pressure on our products prices. Such development has, inevitably,
impacted our gross profit margin. During the Reporting Period, the
management has made improvement in production efficiencies
and reducing wastages. Furthermore, the Group also developed
new creative product designs to keep up with the customer
expectations and managed to seize opportunities to add more
value to our services. Stronger marketing efforts were also made in
extending our foothold in the existing top cigarette brands we are
currently serving. With the management’s initiatives in focusing on
improving operational efficiency, the Group managed to counteract
the drop in price with more volume sold and the refinement of

product mix to mitigate the pricing pressure from tendering.

Major Developments

On 12 May 2011, the Group entered into a framework agreement
with China National Tobacco Corporation Beijing (“"CNTCBJ") for the
strategic development of our subsidiary, Beijing Plant. Beijing Plant
will be relocated and its registered capital shall be owned as to 51%
by the Group and as to 49% by CNTCBJ. The total consideration for
the relocation and the development of the new factory premises
of RMB139.75 million shall be contributed in cash as to about
RMB36.14 million by the Group and as to about RMB103.61 million
by CNTCBJ.
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Management and Board Changes

Mr. David John Cleveland Hodge resigned as a Non-executive
Director of the Company due to other business commitment with
effect from 2 December 2011. With effect from the same day, Mr.
Jerzy Czubak was re-appointed for a term of two years as a Non-

executive Director to replace Mr. Hodge.

Turnover

During the Reporting Period, turnover of the Group increased by
27% from HKS$2,651 million to HKS$3,370 million. Such solid growth
was achieved through organic means as the tobacco industry
in People’s Republic of China (“PRC") continued to grow and

consolidate.

Gross Profit

During the Reporting Period, the overall gross profit rate was 33.8%,
a drop of 1.5 percentage points when compared to 35.3% achieved
last year. The drop in gross profit rate was mainly due to the
implementation of the tendering system more aggressively during
the year. The pricing pressure was, to a certain extent, mitigated
by volume growth and the management’s dedicated effort in
improving production efficiency and cutting costs. Gross profit
during the Reporting Period increased by 22% from HK$936 million
to HKS 1,139 million.

Other Income

Other income increased due to more interest income received
and the recognition of exchange gain on revaluing borrowings
denominated in weakening Hong Kong dollars against

strengthening Renminbi, the Company’s functional currency.
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Operating Costs

Operating costs (including administrative expenses, selling and
distribution costs and other operating expenses) increased by 36%
from HK$295 million in 2010 to HK$402 million in 2011. Operating
costs expressed as a percentage of turnover increased marginally
from 11.1% in 2010 to 11.9% in 2011. The increase in operating
costs was mainly due to (1) selling expenses incurred to expand
marketing networks and distribution channels, resulting in solid
growth in turnover; and (2) employee share-based compensation
benefits expended resulted from the granting of 90 million share

options to senior management during the year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased from HKS$35 million in 2010 to HKS$27
million in 2011. The decrease was mainly due to a general decrease

in borrowing interest rates.

Share of Profit of Associates

Share of profit of associates decreased from HK$85 million in 2010
to HK$61 million in 2011.The decrease was mainly due to a decrease
in our share of profit from Nanjing Plant as a result of (1) non-
recurrence of certain one off sales made in fourth quarter of 2010
due to the imminent change in designs and (2) a provision of tax

under-provided in 2010.

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group rose by 7 percentage points
from 23% in 2010 to 30% in 2011. This was mainly due to (1) non-
operating items of HK$49 million recorded in 2010 that was non-
taxable; and (2) certain selling expenses incurred for market

development in 2011 that were not tax deductible.
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Net Profit and Profit Attributable to owners of the
Company

The Group achieved a profit attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$548 million in 2011, a decrease of 4% from HK$571 million
in 2010. However, excluding (1) the non-operating items of HK$49
million mainly resulted from the gain on disposal of Brilliant Circle
Holdings International Limited in 2010; and (2) the employee share-
based compensation benefits of HK$21 million resulted from the
granting of share options to senior management in 2011, the
underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company increased
by 9% from HK$522 million in 2010 to HK$569 million in 2011.

Segmental Information

During the Reporting Period, substantially the entire turnover was

derived from cigarette packaging printing.

Dividends

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK10.8
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK11.4
cents) to be payable to the shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at 29
June 2012. Subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, the
said final dividend will be paid to the Company’s shareholders
around 16 July 2012.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2011, total assets of the Group amounted to
HK$6,562 million and its total liabilities amounted to HK$2,016
million, representing an increase of HK$577 million and HKS50
million, respectively as compared to 2010. The increase in total
assets was mainly due to increase in cash and bank balances
resulted from drawdown of loan facilities and cash inflow from
operating activities. Increase in total liabilities was mainly due to the

drawdown of loan facilities.
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Borrowings and Banking Facilities

ERRRITEE

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has gross interest-bearing RZBE——F+-A=+—8 X&B#E

borrowings of approximately HK$987 million (2010: HK$579 million),
representing an increase of HK$408 million over the previous year.

The increase was mainly due to the drawdown of loan facilities.

All of the interest-bearing borrowings are unsecured, are

579,000,000 JT)
gt BT E E iR EL
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B B 2R 48 58 #9987,000,00058 7T (Z & —
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& 2 4F 12 /11408,000,00078

2
B

BEPTE

1 REER - B TTAHE RIRF

denominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear interests at floating P KRR - AEEF BERERZIERT
rates. The maturity profile of the Group’s gross interest-bearing ;T
borrowings is as follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
On demand or within one year BRERS N —FRA 217,330 118
In the second year F_F 769,260 133,328
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EZFAFT (HEMFRELERN) - 445,139
986,590 578,585
Less: Amount due for settlement within B = EARREREEFIE
12 months (shown under current liabilities) (RrgaEmEesIR) (217,330) (118)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  + —{& A& 2 HAEE FIE 769,260 578,467
RZZE——F+-A=+—H A&EEWEF

As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any committed
but undrawn banking facilities (2010: HK$400 million).

MEAZBERBB ZRITEE
400,000,00078 7T ©

T2



Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had net assets of HK$4,545
million comprising non-current assets of HK$3,814 million
(including property, plant and equipment of HK$623 million,
prepaid land lease payments of HK$23 million, goodwill of HK$2,627
million, interests in associates of HK$146 million, loan receivables
of HK$302 million, available-for-sale financial assets of HKS2 million,
other assets of HK$91 million), net current assets of HK$1,569

million and non-current liabilities of HKS838 million.

Gearing ratio, measured by total interest-bearing borrowings as
a percentage of equity, increased from 14.4% in 2010 to 21.7% in
2011. Such increase was primarily due to the drawdown of loan

facilities.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2011, no assets were pledged (2010: HK$16
million) to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to the

Group.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had capital commitments
contracted but not provided for in respect of acquisition of
property, plant and equipment of HKS65 million (2010: HKS8

million).

Working Capital

The current ratio increased from 203% at last year end to 233% at
31 December 2011 due to significant increase in cash and bank

balances derived from operating activities.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

During 2011, the Group's business transactions were mainly
denominated in Renminbi. All bank borrowings were denominated

in Hong Kong dollars.
The Group does not have significant foreign currency exposure.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions

that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had 2,400 full time employees

in Hong Kong and the PRC. Total staff costs (including directors’

emoluments and employee share-based compensation benefits)
amounted to approximately HK$308 million (2010: HK$242 million)
for the year. All full time salaried employees, except for factory
workers and contract employees, are being paid on a monthly basis,
plus a discretionary performance bonus. Factory workers are being
remunerated based on a basic wage plus production incentive. The
Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees are competitive
and employees are rewarded on a performance related basis within
the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system.
In addition to salaries, the Group provides staff benefits including
medical insurance and contributions to staff's provident fund. Share
options, awards and bonuses are also available to employees of the
Group at the discretion of the Directors and depending upon the

financial performance of the Group.
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Looking forward, the tobacco market is still expected to maintain
favourable growth and to continue its consolidation in the years
to come despite the fact that China’s targeted growth has been
lowered. With the growing trend of our competitors adopting
a more and more aggressive tendering strategy, the pressure
on our pricing and margin is on the increase. To cope with this
changing competitive landscape, AMVIG has a rigorous focus on
cost management across the Group, with particular emphasis on
production efficiency and cost control. The Company will continue
to focus on reducing production and operating costs so as to
maintain reasonable profit margins which allow us to achieve

leading performance in the industry.

AMVIG will continue our dual-growth strategy. The ongoing
consolidation of the tobacco industry may provide more
opportunities for mergers and acquisitions, and at the same time,
capture more market share through organic means as smaller scale

cigarette packaging printers may be eliminated from the market.

In summary, 2012 will be a difficult year filled with uncertainties.
Our strong organic growth may not be sustained. However,
given our good track record, a positive industry outlook and our
sustainable business model and strategy, we should be able to
meet the challenges ahead. We will pursue business opportunities

arising from the ongoing consolidation of tobacco industry.

Last but not least, the management would like to take this
opportunity to thank all of our shareholders, suppliers and
customers for their ongoing loyalty, confidence and support
to the Group during the year. Merits should go for all the staff
of the Group, for their continued commitment, dedication and
determination which successfully bring the business to prosper and
help to enhance long term shareholder value and to reward our

shareholders appropriately.
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Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy 2 B&4E5E 4

Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy

aged 61, was appointed as Executive Director in January 2005 and
was appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Group in April
2006. He had also been the Chief Executive Officer overseeing the
overall management of the Group and development of corporate
policies and strategies for development of the business until 19
November 2009. With effect from 20 April 2010, Mr. Chan was
re-designated as Non-executive Chairman of the Board after
appointing Mr. Ge Su as President & Chief Executive Officer of the
Group paving way for succession. Mr. Chan has been the Managing
Director of Amcor Asia, part of Amcor Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since 1995. Mr. Chan is a Chartered
Engineer (UK) with a Master of Business Administration degree from
University of Strathclyde in United Kingdom. He is a member of the
Chartered Engineer Institution (UK). Mr. Chan is also the Chairman

of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Chan Sai Wai FRItHE &4

Mr. Chan Sai Wai

aged 54, was appointed as Executive Director in June 2006 and
has become the Vice Chairman of the Group since June 2007.
Mr. Chan is the Director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
He has been primarily responsible for overall management and
operation of World Grand Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
("World Grand Group”). Mr. Chan has been engaging in the trading
of cigarette packaging business since 1982. He had been the
Assistant Managing Director of Yunnan Nine-Nine Colour Printing
Co., Ltd. since 1996 until he set up Kunming Plant in 2002. Mr. Chan
is the brother of Mr. Ng Sai Kit. Mr. Chan is also a member of Risk

Management Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Ge Su B#rs &

Mr. Ge Su

aged 55, was appointed as Executive Director in July 2009 and
assumed the position as President & Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 19 November 2009. Mr. Ge is currently
the Director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ge has
more than 19 years of experience in the Chinese tobacco industry.
He has a deep understanding and exposure to the industry, and has
developed a good working relationship with tobacco monopoly
authorities both at central and provincial levels. Mr. Ge assisted
in negotiation of three Leigh Mardon tobacco joint ventures in
Qingdao, Beijing and Kunming and sits on the respective boards in
Qingdao and Beijing. He has participated in many tobacco related
projects including assisting a multinational tobacco group in
setting up a cigarette making joint venture and developing a cigar
cooperative project in China. Mr. Ge holds a degree of Bachelor
of Arts from Beijing Language Institute and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from China Europe Management Institute
(currently China Europe International Business School in Shanghai).
Mr. Ge is also the member of Risk Management Committee and

Investment Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Ng Sai Kit Rtt7ZRFEE

Mr. Ng Sai Kit

aged 49, was appointed as Executive Director in June 2006 and
is the Director of World Grand Group. Mr. Ng has been primarily
responsible for sales and marketing of World Grand Group. Mr. Ng
has been engaging in the trading of cigarette packaging business
since 1982. Mr. Ng had been the Director of Yunnan Nine-Nine
Colour Printing Co., Ltd. since 1996 until he set up Kunming Plant in
2002. Mr. Ng is the brother of Mr. Chan Sai Wai.
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Mr. Jerzy Czubak Jerzy Czubak%t 4

Mr. Jerzy Czubak

aged 53, has more than 27 years of operations experience, of
which more than 14 years have been working with Amcor Tobacco
Packaging. Mr. Czubak has assisted Amcor group of companies in
the setting up and management of production plants in Poland,
Ukraine, Russia and various investment projects in Europe. He
is at present the Global Chief Operation Officer of the tobacco
packaging business of Amcor Limited. Mr. Czubak holds a Master
of Art degree from University of Lodz in Poland and a Master of
Business Administration degree from University of Bristol in United
Kingdom. Mr. Czubak was appointed as a Non-executive Director
in 2 December 2011. Mr. Czubak is also the Chairman of the Risk

Management Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich  Ralf Klaus Wunderlich %t 4

Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich

aged 46, is currently the President of Amcor Flexibles Asia Pacific
and a Member of Amcor’s Global Executive Team. He joined
Amcor in January 2010 after extensive experience internationally,
in executive general management and finance roles, within the
flexible packaging, tobacco packaging and rigid packaging industry.
Prior to joining Amcor, Mr. Wunderlich was a President & Managing
Director of LINPAC Packaging Ltd., a Director of LINPAC Group
Limited, President of Alcan Global Tobacco Packaging, and President
of Alcan Packaging Asia and Pacific. Mr. Wunderlich is also a Non-
executive Director of Aptar Group Inc., a supplier of a broad range
of dispensing systems listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wunderlich was appointed as a Non-executive Director in 14
December 2010.

Ralf Klaus Wunderlich 5t 4
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Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BEBE A4

Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith

aged 67, is the Chairman of Stirling Coleman Capital Limited. He
was the Chairman and a managing partner of KPMG Peat Marwick
Singapore from 1984 to 1993 and concurrently the Chairman of
KPMG ASEAN and a member of KPMG International Board and its
Executive Committee. He served as the President of the Institute
of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore from 1982 to 1992.
He was the Chairman of the Singapore International Chamber
of Commerce from 1995 to 1997 and he continues to serve as a
Board member. He is a founding member and a member of the
governing council of the Singapore Institute of Directors. He has
also served as an Adjunct Professor in the School of Accountancy
and Business of The Nanyang Technological University. Mr. Tay is a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales
and he was awarded the First International Award by the Institute
in 1988 for his contribution to the profession. He was conferred the
Bintang Bakti Masharakat (Public Service Star) by the President of
the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr. Tay also serves on the boards
of several public companies in Singapore. Mr. Tay was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director in April 2006 and he is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate

Governance Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis BXBZAZE S A4E

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis

aged 49, is the Director of Lau & Au Yeung CPA Limited. Before
starting his CPA practice in mid 1992, he worked in an international
accountancy firm responsible for auditing of a number of renowned
listed companies in Hong Kong. He also acted as a Finance Manager
of Paramount Printing Group Limited (currently known as Next
Media Limited), a listed company in Hong Kong and a sizeable
private limited company in Hong Kong. Mr. Au Yeung is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow member of the Society of Registered
Financial Planners. Mr. Au Yeung was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director in May 2006 and he is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of

the Company.
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Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric tH{BE 4

Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric

aged 50, is currently the Chief Executive Officer of a financial
consultancy and an advisory company specialising in initial public
offering, fund raising and private equity investment. Mr. Oh also
serves as the Independent Directors of three public companies in
Singapore. Mr. Oh has more than 20 years of commercial experience
in financial management, business development, corporate finance
and restructuring areas. Mr. Oh is a fellow member of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants and a non-practising member
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. He also
holds a diploma in business studies from Ngee Ann Polytechnic
majoring in accountancy. Mr. Oh was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director in May 2006 and he is the Chairman of the
Investment Committee and Corporate Governance Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee of the Company.
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Mr. Liu Shun Fai

aged 41, is currently the Chief Financial Officer and the Company
Secretary of the Group. He is responsible for the accounting, finance
and treasury function of the Group. He graduated from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1992 and is an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Liu has
more than 18 years of auditing and accounting experience. Before
joining the Company in August 2007, Mr. Liu had been the Financial
Controller and the qualified accountant of two listed companies
in Hong Kong for 9 years and had also worked in an international
accounting firm for 8 years.

Mr. Chen Zhe

aged 50, is currently the Vice President — Business Development of
the Group. He studied in Shanghai Lixin Accounting College from
1980 to 1983 and subsequently obtained a diploma of graduate
school of Liaoning Finance & Economic College. Before joining
AMVIG, he served in Alcan Packaging. In Alcan Packaging'’s China
operation, Mr. Chen was a Director of Strategic Planning, a Director
of Business Development, China/Asia Global Tobacco from 2002 to
2009.

Mr. Hon Kim Wai, Jim

aged 44, is currently the Vice President - Manufacturing &
Technology of the Group. His main duties include the alignment
of the group various manufacturing assets to excel in efficiencies
performance and spearheading the technology advancement for
the Group. Mr. Hon has joined AMVIG since May 2011 and has been
with the Amcor Corrugating and Flexibles division, within Asia,
for over 20 years. He has taken roles ranging from operations to
technical to Regional General Manager (Asia) of Amcor Australia
Flexibles since 2007. Mr. Hon completed his Polytechnic diploma
in manufacturing in Singapore and continued with his Degree in
Manufacturing in University of Birmingham, UK with Honors.

Ms. Lui Yuen Ming, Bella

aged 39, is currently the Head of Internal Audit of the Group.
She obtained a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong in 1995 and a Degree in Law from the
China University of Political Science and Law in 2005. She is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. She has
more than 16 years of external and internal auditing experience in
an international accounting firm, a multi-national corporation and
listed companies in Hong Kong. She joined the Group in September
2007.
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Ms. Ge Ping Lan

aged 57, is currently the Financial Controller of Hangzhou Weicheng.
Ms. Ge graduated from Li Shui Industrial College in mechanism. Ms.
Ge also obtained a diploma in Statistics in 1988 and qualified as
Accountant, Economist and Statistician. Ms. Ge joined Hangzhou
Weicheng as Administration Manager in 1997 and was promoted to

Financial Controller in 1999.

Mr. Guo Shu Guang

aged 44, is currently the General Manager of Beijing Plant and
the Vice President of the Group. He holds a Degree in Accounting
from Renmin University of China in 1997. He also holds a degree
in Business Administration of Industry from Beijing Institute of
Petrochemical Technology in 1990. He joined Beijing Plant in 1998

and was promoted to General Manager in May 2006.

Mr. Li Ru He

aged 44, is currently the Executive General Manager of Hangzhou
Weicheng and Vice President of the Group. He graduated from
Xiamen University, Fujian and obtained a bachelor degree in
Biology, and qualified as Economist and Engineer. He joined
Hangzhou Weicheng in 1997 and was promoted to Executive

General Manager in 2010.

Mr. Qi Ming

aged 53, is currently the General Manager of Kunming Plant.
Mr. Qi graduated from University of Kunming in Economic and
Management and has over 32 years' experience in the printing
industry. Between 2002 and March 2007, Mr. Qi had been working
as General Manager of Kunming Colour Printing Co., Ltd. He joined
Kunming Plant in April 2007 and was appointed as General Manager
in January 2010.

Mr. Song Wei Dong

aged 57, is the Assistant General Manager of Nanjing Plant. Mr.
Song joined Nanjing Plant when it was incorporated in April 1998
and is primarily responsible for overall management, administration
and corporate affairs of Nanjing Plant. Mr. Song holds a degree in

Management from the Jiangsu Radio and Television University.
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Mr. Wang Shen

aged 51, is currently the General Manager of Qingdao Plant and
Vice President of the Group. He majored in Management and
graduated from Shandong Normal University in 1985, he majored in
Management and graduated from Shandong Provincial Party School
in 1995, and he also holds a Master Degree in Management from
the University of Northern Virginia, USA. During the period between
2000 to 2004, he held the position as Deputy General Manager
of Qingdao Plant. During the period between 2004 to 2010, he
held the positions as Director of Estate Business Division, General
Manager of Qingdao Etsong Xing Ri Investment Limited Company,
General Manager, Vice Chairman and Chairman of Qingdao Etsong
Xing Ri Estate Development Limited Company. In March 2010, he

was appointed as General Manager of Qingdao Plant.

Mr. Xu Guo Min

aged 42, is currently the General Manager of Dongguan KWG. Mr.
Xu obtained his Master Degree in Business Administration from
Kunming University of Science and Technology and has over 17
years' experience in the printing industry. Between 1995 and August
2007, Mr. Xu had been working as Chief Controller of Production
Department of Yunnan Nine-Nine Color Printing Co., Ltd. He joined
Dongguan KWG since November 2007 and was appointed as

General Manager in January 2010.

Mr. Zhu Cheng Jian

aged 48, is currently the General Manager and Director of Nanjing
Plant and Vice President of the Group. Mr. Zhu joined Nanjing
Plant when it was incorporated in April 1998 and he is primarily
responsible for the overall production and technical affairs of
Nanjing Plant. He was appointed General Manager of Nanjing Plant
in 2010.

Mr. Zhu Tian Shou

aged 51, is currently the General Manager of Xian Plant and Vice
President of the Group. He holds a Textile Engineer diploma from
Xian Polytechnic University and attended MBA course in 2003-2004.
Before joining the Group, he was a senior engineer and a member of
assessment committee in People’s Liberation Army’s (“PLA") General
Logistics Department. He was also the Head of a PLA Factory and

General Manager of Xian Great Sky Science & Technology Co., Ltd..
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As a publicly listed company, the Board of AMVIG recognises its
responsibilities to comply with appropriate corporate governance
standards and guidelines. Therefore, we are committed to providing
clear accountability, proper management of the Company’s
asset, enhancing the Company’s reputation and standard in the
community and supporting the achievement of its environmental,
safety, social and other obligations so as to protect the long-term

value to our shareholders, customers and employees.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions contained in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

This report summarises the Company's corporate governance
practices and structures that were in place during the financial year
ended 31 December 2011.

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board directs and supervises the Company’s affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to
execute his actions in the best interests of the Company. The Board
is responsible for the Company's overall strategic direction, key
operational initiatives, major funding and investment proposals. It is
also charged with monitoring the operational and financial position
and performance, as well as corporate governance practices.
Where appropriate, the Board is obliged to approve any key
executive appointments and succession planning. The Board also
provides leadership and guidance to management. The Company
has in place financial authorisation and approval limits for capital
expenditures as well as acquisitions and disposal of investments.
Within these guidelines, the Board approves transactions above
certain thresholds. The Board also approves the annual budget and
the financial results of the Group and various Board committees

were formed to assist in the execution of the Board's responsibilities.

The Board meets periodically at least four times a year and also
meets as warranted by particular circumstances outside the
scheduled meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2011, a total of four Board meetings were held. The attendance of
the Directors at Board meetings and Board committee meetings, as

well as the frequency of such meetings, are disclosed in this report.
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The Board now comprises nine Directors including a Non-executive
Chairman, three Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors
("NEDs"), and three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs").
During the Reporting Period, Mr. Jerzy Czubak has been re-
appointed to be a Non-executive Director to replace Mr. David John
Cleveland Hodge on 2 December 2011. The composition of the

Board and representation on Board committees are set out below:

Non-executive Chairman:

Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy

(Chairman of the Board and Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sai Wai (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Ge Su (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sai Kit

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Jerzy Czubak (Chairman of Risk Management Committee)
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric

(Chairman of Investment Committee and Corporate Governance

Committee)

Our Directors are experienced in a range of corporate and industry
expertise such as accounting, finance and business and operation
management. The diversity of the Directors’ experience provides
useful exchange of ideas and views to ensure that decisions are

made with a balanced judgement.

~
w

EXeRRANEESTEAX  BE Bk
TERE - ZB/BATEF - MBIERTES -
R=2BIEHTES - RMESHM - Jerzy
CzubakE AR —FE——F+_A_HEE#
ZEAIEWNITESUAE B David John Cleveland
Hodgeft 4 - EE G 2K REFTLZEG 2
BREFIT

FHITER -
2 RS
(EFBLRERELEABLSE)
BITES
Rt 8 555 (B
T

Bt E (BEHITE)
RUERELE

LL0Z Moday [enuuy Mtttz — — & = ‘ payiwi sSBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ Xl B 3 T2k e 3¢

FATES — T

Jerzy Czubakst & (R EHEZE & F/F)
Ralf Klaus Wunderlich %t 4

BYFHTES :

BEE (FEZRELE)
BERELL (FHZEE2TE)
HRERE

(REZEERILEXELZRETE)

A

il
1)

2REFHE  UHERECREQEERES
ERORABECHNEXRAB LR - EF
BZEBEUEANNBERREH Z BRI
TR S B H 2 R 3R -

i B

E:

i

3|



N
~

‘ LLOZ Moday |enuuy M — —& = ‘ paywi sBUIp|oH DIAWY [ 7 ¥l B 3 32k e 3t

The Company has formal letters of appointment with each of the
Directors. Given their nature of duties, Executive Directors do not
have a fixed term of appointment and either party may terminate
the appointment by serving at least one month's written notice. All
NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company are appointed for a term of
two years from the date of their respective appointments/renewal.
All Directors are subject to re-election on retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company but

eligible for re-election for re-appointment.

The Nomination Committee reviews the independence of each
Director. It considers a Director as independent if he has no
relationship with the Group or its officers that could interfere,
or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the
Director’s independent business judgment in the best interests of

the Company.

Other than (i) Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy, Mr. Jerzy Czubak and Mr.
Ralf Klaus Wunderlich, who are senior management of Amcor group
of companies, and (ii) Mr. Chan Sai Wai who is the brother of Mr.
Ng Sai Kit, there is no financial, business, family or other material or

relevant relationship among the other Directors.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of its INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the Independent

Non-executive Director to be independent.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to

36 of this annual report.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
segregated and not performed by the same person. The Chairman
is primarily responsible for the leadership of the Board and the
formulation of overall strategic development of the Group, while
the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for the day-to-

day management of the Group's business.

During the year, Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy is the Chairman and Mr.
Ge Su is the Chief Executive Officer.
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The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses candidates
for directorships (including Executive Directors) before making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
normally considers the current composition of the Board, the
skills and experience required, and ensures that the Board has an
appropriate balance of Independent Directors as well as Directors

with the right profile of expertise, skills, attributes and ability.

The Board has established various Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Investment Committee, the Risk Management
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee to assist
itself in the execution of its duties. In considering the composition
of the membership in different committees, several key factors are
taken into account, such as equitable allocation of responsibilities
among Board members, promotion of active participation and

maximization of the effectiveness of different committees.

The Audit Committee comprised the three INEDs: Mr. Tay Ah Kee,
Keith (Chairman), Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis and Mr. Oh Choon

Gan, Eric.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the

following:

- assists the Board in discharging its statutory responsibilities on

financial and accounting matters;

—  reviews the audit plans and reports of the external auditors and
internal auditors and considers the effectiveness of the actions

taken by management on the auditors' recommendations;

- appraises and reports to the Board on the audits undertaken
by the external auditors and the adequacy of disclosure of

information;
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- reviews the cost effectiveness of the audit and the

independence and objectivity of the external auditors; and

- reviews connected transactions and continuing connected

transactions, as defined under the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. It met
with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the
results of their respective examinations and their evaluation of the
Company's system of internal controls. It has authority to investigate
any matters within its terms of reference and has full access to and
cooperation from management, in addition to its direct access
to the external auditors. The external auditors, in the course of
conducting their normal audit procedures on the statutory financial
statements of the Company, also considered the Company’s internal
control relevant to the Company’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design their
audit procedures. If required, the Audit Committee has authority

to seek external resources to enable it to discharge its functions

properly.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the interim financial
statements and the annual financial statements of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2011 and for the financial year ended 31
December 2011 respectively, as well as the auditors’ reports thereon.
Any connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
of the Group during the year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee; in cases of practical difficulties, the Audit Committee
provides guidance to management to assist in their resolution.

Appropriate disclosure is made in the annual report.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of

the external auditors.
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The Remuneration Committee comprised the three INEDs: Mr. Au
Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis (Chairman), Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith and Mr. Oh

Choon Gan, Eric.

The key responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are stated

in the Remuneration Report set out in this report on pages 58 to 59.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year.

The Nomination Committee comprised Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy
(Chairman), and the three INEDs: Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis, Mr. Tay
Ah Kee, Keith and Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric.

The Nomination Committee’s main function is to ensure that
the size of the Board is adequate for effective discussions and
decision-making. It also has the responsibility that the Board has
an appropriate balance of independent Directors, with a mix of

business experience in relevant disciplines.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the

following:

- reviews and assesses candidates for directorships (including
Executive Directors) before making recommendations to the

Board for appointment of Directors;

- reviews and recommends to the Board the retirement and re-
election of Directors in accordance with the Company’s Articles

of Association;

- reviews the composition of the Board to ensure that the Board
has an appropriate balance of independent Directors and to
ensure an appropriate balance of expertise, skills, attributes

and ability among the Directors;

- reviews the independence of Directors;
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reviews the composition of the boards of subsidiary and
associated companies and where appropriate, provides
guidance on the appointment of suitable Directors to those

companies; and

oversees the selection, appointment and succession planning
processes for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and senior

Executives.

During the year, the Nomination Committee had recommended Mr.

Jerzy Czubak as Non-executive Director following the resignation of
Mr. David John Cleveland Hodge.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.

The

Risk Management Committee comprised Mr. Jerzy Czubak

(Chairman), Mr. Chan Sai Wai and Mr. Ge Su.

The

main responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee

include the following:

The

year.

The

oversees the establishment, implementation, and ongoing

review of the Company’s risk management;

reviews the overall risk management system and process and
makes recommendations on changes as and when considered
appropriate, having regard to costs and benefits; and

reviews the Company’s material risk exposures and evaluates
the adequacy and effectiveness of the mitigating measures

implemented by management.

Risk Management Committee held one meeting during the

Risk Management Report is set out in this report on pages 72

to 77.
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The Investment Committee comprised Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric
(Chairman) and Mr. Ge Su.

The main responsibilities of the Investment Committee include the

following:

- considers and approves strategic and portfolio investments

and divestments within certain prescribed thresholds;

- reviews the Company’s investment and treasury policies; and

- manages the Company’s assets and liabilities in accordance

with the policies and directives of the Board.

The Investment Committee held one meeting during the year.

In order to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance, the Board has established the
Corporate Governance Committee on 29 March 2012. The Corporate
Governance Committee comprised the three INEDs: Mr. Oh Choon
Gan, Eric (Chairman), Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith and Mr. Au Yeung Tin
Wah, Ellis.

The main responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee

include the following:

- to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management of the

Company; and

- to review the Company's compliance with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules and respective disclosure in the interim and

annual reports of the Company.
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The attendance of each Director at the meetings of the Board and

HE-Z——F+-_A=T—HILHBRFES

the Board committees during the financial year ended 31 December EFEHEEEEeRRESEREERRZER
2011 was as follows: o
Risk
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination management Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
v
Exe ENZEE FMWzEe REZEE EEZEE® REZEEe
Number of Meetings Held ~ 8{T&: K& 4 3 2 1 1 1
Name of Directors BENY
Non-executive Chairman — FEBITTL/E
Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy & R#:5E 4 4/4 - - 1/1 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chan Sai Wai PRt 25 A 4/4 - - - 1/1 -
Mr. Ng Sai Kit RUEREE 3/4 - - - - -
Mr. Ge Su BELA 4/4 = - = 1/1 1/1
Non-executive Directors ~ FEHTEE
Mr. David John Cleveland  David John Cleveland
Hodge" HodgeE £ 23 - - - - 1/1
Mr. Jerzy Czubak” Jerzy Czubake 4" 11 - - - 1/1 -
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich  Ralf Klaus Wunderlich%t 4 4/4 - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BV IEHITEE
Directors
Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BRSE 4/4 33 212 171 - -
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis BB RE L4 4/4 33 22 171 - -
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric HEERAE 34 33 12 1/ - 1/1

Note 1:  Mr. Jerzy Czubak was appointed to replace Mr. David John

Cleveland Hodge with effect from 2 December 2011.

BizE1 : Jerzy CzubaktER =T ——F+-A-—HEBH#
R {E LA & David John Cleveland Hodge st 4 °



The Board recognises the importance of the establishment and

maintenance of a system of internal control and the review of its

effectiveness in order to safeguard the shareholders’ investment

and the Group's assets. The Board is reasonably satisfied that there

are sufficient resources of staff with appropriate qualifications and

experience in its accounting and financial reporting team and that

sufficient training and budget have been provided.

(a)

Review on Internal Control System

The Group's internal control system consists of various policies,
procedures and control activities to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage risks of failure in the Group's operational systems. The
system of internal control is intended to safeguard the Group's
assets and resources against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
ensure transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s authorization and ensure accounting records
are reliable for preparing financial information internally and

publicly.

The Audit Committee has reviewed, with the assistance of the
internal and external auditors, the effectiveness of the system
of internal control of the Group. Management has used its
best endeavors to ensure that there were no material internal
control deficiencies, weaknesses or areas of concern identified

which might affect shareholders.

Management of Internal Audit Function

The Group has utilized its Internal Audit Department to
assist the Board to independently review the Group's internal

controls throughout the year.

Internal Audit Charter

The mission, objectives, accountability, responsibility,
independence and authority of the Internal Audit Department
are clearly stated in a written Internal Audit Charter, which is

approved and periodically reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Reporting Structure

The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the
Chairman of the Audit Committee, although it also reports
administratively to the Chief Executive Officer. The Internal
Audit Department brings relevant matters identified during
the course of audits to the Audit Committee’s attention and
also has the right to consult the Audit Committee without
reference to the management. This reporting structure allows

the Internal Audit Department to maintain its independence.

Internal Audit Plan

An annual internal audit plan for the Group, which is reviewed
by the Audit Committee, is formulated based on the results of
the annual assessment of risks and review of internal control.
The Internal Audit Department also conducts other projects

and investigations as may be required.

Ongoing Internal Control Review

The Internal Audit Department adopts a risk and control based
audit approach in assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of

the Group’s internal control system on an on-going basis.

Controls on Price-sensitive Information

In respect of procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of price-sensitive information, a mechanism
has been established to identify, analyse and disclose any
material price-sensitive information with reference to the
“Guide on disclosure of price-sensitive information” issued by
the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. Besides, the
Group's employee handbook contains the general prohibition
from disclosing such information to persons who do not have
a demonstrable need to know the information. Group staff is
required to acknowledge the receipt and comply with all the

contents contained in the employee handbook.
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Responsibilities in Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements for each financial period to ensure
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for
that period. The Company’s financial statements are prepared
in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors are responsible
for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently; and that judgment and estimates

made are prudent and reasonable.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's

ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 93 to 94

of the annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

RSM Nelson Wheeler has been re-appointed as the Company’s
external auditor by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General
Meeting until the conclusion of the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. They are primarily responsible for providing
audit services in connection with the annual consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 December 2011,
the external auditor of the Company received approximately
HK$2.9 million for annual audit service, approximately HK$0.2
million for audit-related services and approximately HK$0.5

million for tax and other services.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Company believes in engaging in regular, effective and
fair communication with shareholders and is committed to
conveying important and relevant information to shareholders

on a timely basis.

The Company is mindful to ensure that information is made
publicly available on a timely basis. Disclosure of information
is made by way of publishing announcements, notices,
circulars and financial reports through the website of the Stock
Exchange, press releases, general meetings, as well as the
corporate website (www.amvig.com) which has a dedicated

investor relations section.

Greater Shareholders’ Participation

The Company believes in encouraging shareholders’
participation at general meetings. The Company’s Articles of
Association allows a shareholder entitled to attend and vote
to appoint a proxy who need not be a shareholder of the

Company to attend and vote at general meetings.

In compliance with the Listing Rules, all general meetings of
the Company have been conducted by way of poll. Detailed
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the
commencement of the meeting. Voting results at general
meetings will be published in an announcement to be issued
by no later than the time that is 30 minutes before the earlier
of the commencement of the morning trading session or any
pre-opening session on the business day following the general

meeting.
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Dealings in Securities EHEEE

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing RARERMN—ERFEETHER LR
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting A e+ AT B LT AEZESHET
than that required under the Model Code for Securities BERG2ZEF ([BEFA]) E
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) K BREZETIESFRH21RSFFA -
as contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made ARFRBEREEESIELFRIER - 1§
specific enquiry with all Directors, each of them confirms EHHER  BERFAHTEETERE
that he has complied in full with the Model Code regarding FHETBFR G 2IRLESFH -

Directors' securities transactions for the year.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
N S

This remuneration report sets out the Company's policy on the
remuneration of Chairman, Executive Directors and NEDs, together
with details of Directors' remuneration packages for the financial
year 2011. This Remuneration Report has been reviewed and
approved by the Remuneration Committee of the Company and the

detail is set out on pages 56 to 65.

1. KEY DEVELOPMENT

Regarding the remuneration to the senior Executives, the Board

has taken the following steps during the year:
1. NEDs'fees did not have material changes.

2. Bonuses were paid to the head office management based
principally on the delivery of outperformance against

objective benchmarks.

3. Incentive bonuses were paid by reference with key
performance indicators (“KPIs") for plant management.
The KPIs were basically set to measure the performance
of the management based on the return on fixed assets
employed, percentage of actual results over budget and

last year results.

4. Basic salaries were adjusted basically to reflect the effect
of inflation and the change in employment market

conditions.

Full details of the Chairman’s, Executive Directors’ and NEDs'

remuneration are set out in the report that follows.

2. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been set up since 2006 to
review both the remuneration structure and package of the

senior management and NEDs.

Tasks
The committee’s tasks are:
- to review and determine, on behalf of the Board of

Directors, the Broad policies for executive remuneration

and to report on those to the shareholders;
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- to revise and recommend to the Board, the remuneration

system for the NEDs; and

- to monitor the implementation of remuneration policies

being applied by the Company.

The present remuneration package of AMVIG has been
compared with the prevailing market practice in Hong Kong
and corresponding recommendations were proposed to the

Board of Directors for their consideration and approval.

Constitution and operation

The committee comprises solely INEDs and is chaired by Mr.
Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis. The other members are Mr. Tay Ah Kee,
Keith and Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric.

The committee held two meetings in the period under
review. There was a full attendance record of all members. The
committee has reported to the Board on its activities after each
meeting. The Terms of Reference of the Committee is available
at the website of the Stock Exchange and the corporate

website.

The committee is accountable to the shareholders through its
annual report on Executive Directors' remuneration and the
opinions of shareholders are taken into account when making

decisions.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The main elements of the Company’s remuneration policies

are:

- no individual should determine his or her own

remuneration.

- remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies

with whom the Company competes for human resources.

- remuneration should reflect performance, complexity
and responsibility so as to attract and retain high calibre

individuals.
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- motivate Directors to achieve challenging performance

levels.
- align executive rewards with shareholders'value.

- recognise both individual and corporate achievement.

4. REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES FOR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN 2011

The committee has followed the remuneration policy and
system adopted in 2007 on proposing remuneration packages
of Executive Directors for the Board's consideration and

approval.

The committee seeks to ensure linking the remuneration for
top management with their performance and the Company’s
operating results by structuring remuneration packages to

include both fixed and variable components.

The following key principles guide its policy:

- policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors will be
determined and regularly reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee which will set the tone for the remuneration

of other senior Executives.

- the remuneration structure will support and reflect
AMVIG's stated purpose to maximise long-term

shareholders’ value.

- the remuneration structure will reflect a fair system of

rewards for the participants.

- the remuneration will be based on the fixed compensation,
performance bonus and pension arrangement. The
performance bonus will be linked to the achievement of
demanding performance targets that are independently
set and reflect the creation of long-term shareholders’

value.
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a performance share scheme will be developed in order to

align executive and shareholders’ interests.

certain KPIs, which can be quantitative and qualitative, will
be set objectively by the management within a framework
that is approved by the Remuneration Committee to

evaluate the performance of Directors.

remuneration policy and practices will be as transparent

as possible, both for participants and shareholders.

The remuneration package consists of fixed compensation,

performance bonus and pension arrangement in which the

performance bonus is suggested to play a more significant part

in individual rewards as part of the policy to attract, motivate

and retain high performing individuals. The three components

of Executive Directors' remuneration are as follows:

Fixed Compensation

Fixed compensation includes base salary, allowances
and benefits-in-kind. Base salary and allowances are
set and reviewed annually for each Director taking into
consideration the competitive market position, market

practice, and the Company’s and individual’s performance.

Annual Incentive Program

The levels of performance bonus are set by the
Remuneration Committee. No Executive Directors serve on
the committee. The annual incentive can be paid in form

of performance bonus as determined by the Board.

Long-term Incentive

The Executive Directors are recommended to take part
in the long-term Incentive Plan (“LTIP"). The LTIP will be
designed to align the interests of the Executive Directors
with those of the shareholders by an award in the form of

performance shares that is linked with shareholders’ value.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

R

5. REMUNERATION FOR EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

The remuneration paid to the Executive Directors of the

Company was shown below:

5. JTESEZME

AARABRTESTINZMESHINWT ¢

Employee  Retirement

share-based Benefit

For the year ended Salariesand  Discretionary compensation Scheme
31 December 2011 Fees  other benefit bonuses benefits  contributions Total

BE-E—-F ek MR A BAER
TZA=1t-HLEE fig Hit &R BiETd EEMeEA HE i3 wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Executive Directors BES

Mr. Chan Sai Wai BRit 2 5% A - 6,000 5,200 11,456 12 22,668
Mr. Ge Su EHLE - 242 206 175 - 2,803
Mr. Ng Sai Kit RUALE - 4500 3900 8592 12 17,004
- 12,922 9,306 20,223 24 42,475

Employee Retirement

share-based Benefit

For the year ended Salariesand  Discretionary  compensation Scheme
31 December 2010 Fees  other benefit bonuses benefits  contributions Total

BE-Z-2F Hek SARRAD 32 1R RINER
TZA=+-BLEE ilkin Hitr a7 BEEL ESMERT R Ef
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T T T THr T THr

Executive Directors HWITES

Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy" & BR#ESL A0 147 - - - - 147
Mr. Chan Sai Wai Bttt 5% 4 - 2,500 4000 - 12 6512
Mr. Ge Su EELE - 2243 187 - - 2430
Mr. Ng Sai Kit [ttAEL - 2,000 3,000 - 12 5012
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis? FEREAE - 438 - - 2 440
147 7,181 7,187 - 26 14,541

Notes:

(1) Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy was re-designated as the Non-executive

Chairman of the Board on 20 April 2010.

(2)  Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis resigned as Executive Director on

1 March 2010.

BaE

(1) BRELEER-_ZT-TFOA—+HESR
ERESSIFNTER -

2 FEREER-_ZT-—TF=A—HEHEHR
78S -
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6. REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES FOR NON- 6. kHIITEE - ——Fif&

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN 2011 Z Al

The existing remuneration packages and policies which based IRAT H BN AF 38 So R R T Ak B M8 51 98 2 FE R
on the qualification, professional experiences, time spent and TEFMER  FELR BARBERI
work load of individual Independent Non-executive Director EEETE  BELFREEFARAT - A
was proved to be fair, attractive and effective in the past years Wal W RAER AR T ——FBEF
and therefore, the same policies and principles were adopted MR B BUER R RA o

continually in 2011.

7. REMUNERATION FOR NON-EXECUTIVE 7. ¥HITEEiNE
DIRECTORS

The fees paid to each of our NEDs for their services on the REEATEZTRAASERESTE (RIB
Group and, as applicable, on its Board committees are set out NME) BTLZESRERBMAESE
below. The fees were proposed by Remuneration Committee NzHeHIMT - MeHFNES SR
and reviewed by the Board of Directors. = WEKREEEEX -

Employee  Retirement

share-based benefit
For the year ended Salariesand  Discretionary compensation scheme
31 December 2011 Fees  other benefit bonuses benefits  contributions Total
BE-Z-—-f% HER HRB A RUEA
TZAST-ALEE ik Htb3ER WA RBEMEER TR @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn

Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy SRELE 489 - - - - 489
Mr. David John David John Cleveland

Cleveland Hodge"” Hodgefe 40 399 - - - - 399
Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BEEE 750 - - - - 750
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis BERELS 726 = - = = 726
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric HEERE 724 - - - - 724
Mr. Jerzy Czubak®? Jerzy Czubak 42 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich Ralf Klaus Wunderlich 2t & 374 - - - - 374

3,492 - - - - 3,492
Notes: PIE -
(1) Mr. David John Cleveland Hodge resigned as Non-executive (1) David John Cleveland HodgeZt R —Z—
Director on 2 December 2011. —F+ A HBEENTES -

(2)  Mr. Jerzy Czubak was re-appointed as Non-executive Director on 2 () Jerzy CzubakEERN T ——F+=-A—H

December 2011. FEZERINTES -
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REMUNERATION REPORT
N S

Employee Retirement

share-based benefit

For the year ended Salariesand  Discretionary  compensation scheme
31 December 2010 Fees  other benefit bonuses benefits  contributions Total

HE-Z-%% Fek AR f89 RIRAER
TZA=T-HLEEE ik H b fgh| BB EEMEEN B 258 st
HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAT TATL TATL TATL TATL THEL

Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy TERELE 346 - - - - 346
Mr. David John Cleveland David John Cleveland 439 = = - - 439
Hodge Hodgest &

Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BEEE 757 - - - - 757
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis BEAELE 732 - - - - 732
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric HEERE 730 - - - - 730
Mr. Jerzy Czubak! Jerzy Czubak 359 - - - - 359
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich® Ralf Klaus Wunderlich % 4 18 - - - - 18
3,381 - - - - 3381

Notes:

(1) Mr. Jerzy Czubak resigned as Non-executive Director on 14

December 2010.

(2)  Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich was appointed as Non-executive

Director on 14 December 2010.

Jerzy Czubakt AR T —FF+=A+1Y
HEHEIENITES -

Ralf Klaus Wunderlichfe AR =T —ZF +
ZATHEEZTEAIENITES -
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8. CONTINUED SCRUTINY AND DISCLOSURE

The Remuneration Committee remains committed to
continued scrutiny of remuneration levels, and to high
standards of disclosure and transparency to shareholders on

such matters.

. FEEEREE I

TR ESMBIKEEEHKY - X
b ABRRIERRKF RS EAEHRE -
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One of the most significant factors in the continuing success for
AMVIG is the quality of its employees. The Group recognises the
contributions made by our employees in delivering the 2011 results
and their commitment to drive continued success of the Group.
Therefore, we will continue to invest in our people through on-the-
job training courses and career development programmes in order
to broaden their job knowledge and strengthen their skills, and in

such a way, help AMVIG to further grow its business.

LL0Z Moday |enuuy M — —& = ‘ payiwi SBUIP|OH DIAWY [= 7 | B 5H Sz ek g
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HUMAN RESOURCE REPORT
ADEFRRE

STAFF

The number of employees decreased slightly from 2,539 at the
end of the previous Reporting Period to 2,400 at the end of the
Reporting Period. Such decrease was a result of the ongoing
streamlining of operations and tactical cost-control measures
applied throughout the Group. The following tables and charts
show the employee profile of the Group:

Employees by profile

=

BT AHMH E—REDRAERR 22,539 AME
EREHRAERK 224004 c ABBRLETER
AEBEFREBHEGE RETRBEIERAZ GG
e o A NIIRRERBEEANREZ BEHN -

BE A BH A AR

2010 2011
—T-TF =ZE——F

Total at Year End FRERABEH

2,539 2,400

Total number of Employees (By Location)

Hong Kong &7 1.00%
Hangzhou #LMl  7.63%
Nanjing FAZX  8.54%
Xian FA % 3.46%

Kunming 83 16.79%

ETInM (UiES D)

Beijing dbI]  12.83%

Qingdao 58 32.75%

Dongguan 352 17.00%
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Total Number of Employees (By Function)

Management

r 13
BRE 70

Finance &
Administration

BIT5 RATR

147
238

1,389

Production 1459

HE

Sales & Marketing

Research & L 33
Development 60

ik

LB
g R

302
Quality Control 438
i

372

Others 222
Hoth

PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT

Our philosophy is that people are AMVIG's most valuable asset. To
maximize our performance, AMVIG attracts, retains and develops
quality people, providing them with personal and professional
development opportunities that align with the Group's goals and

strategies.

To encourage the people to grow with the Company, various
actions have been taken during the year. As usual, the annual
general manager conference serves as an effective communication
platform to allow directors, general managers and senior
management to share latest knowledge, technology and
information in order to increase their awareness of the market, and

to improve their management and business skills.

BT (LReESED)

2011
—T——F

2010
—T—TF

ANER

BAIREEIARMERZ&BEEE - BHY
ZRABEAR TIRFEEANRE 2 BR B IR R E
AN ZEARERERES - FBARS R
BAT  LEMFIBATERE - emiESH RN
FEEERRENRF

REBETERRRIKE - AARRFRR
BT HIRBHE - BEF K BRFES u,%é
fiatg  EPEEBERZIBBETE BF
REREREREN D ZFRHARE Eifh&éq
Al eI EH IS ZHE  RREER
FIEIEE ©

LLOZ Moday |enuuy M ——&— ‘ payiwi sSBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ Xl B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘%




‘ LLOZ Moday [enuuy Y — —& = ‘ panwi sBUIP|OH DIAINY [£ 7 ¥ B 51 k6 ‘3

HUMAN RESOURCE REPORT
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Moreover, AMVIG placed high priority on staff communication. The
Group's quarterly magazine "AMVIG Horizon" is distributed to every
employee to provide updates on the Group's corporate culture,
strategy, latest development and achievement at a glance. Staff are
also encouraged to participate in recreational activities organized in
subsidiaries so as to maintain morale, promote team spirit and as a

result build a cohesive workforce.

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2012

As always, AMVIG is well prepared and committed to recruit and
retain the best people who are fully engaged and passionate about
the business and its customers. We encourage every colleague, no
matter where they work or what role they perform, to develop their
talents and make the best use of their potential to drive AMVIG

forward.

AN - ERHERBR AER B TERE - AEEM
BREEREFTAMEZE] NELAKE
RMHEEXL - REETTM - RMBERRK
oo HMTEBE THEGE2ENERRASZ
REVEE) - ARELR @ REBBRES - 11T
EEPORER A ©

BE-_FE—_F

—RRfE ¢ BEHEREET TR ERS - BNE
AEBEBBRER AERFAERIT MG
BFEAA - EimeR B E M TrEEEE M M
i RPHUEBHETIREME @ IE B #
EREHEAR 2 R -
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AMVIG remains committed in investing in our people. Going
forward, we will continue to implement a succession plan
by identifying talent with potentials in the top to middle
management with a view to further coach them to assume greater
responsibilities. Efforts have also been made to nurture young
talents to become future leaders. Such long term human resources
investment initiatives, will enable the Group to prosper and sustain

our leading position in the industry.

With ongoing support, resources and encouragement from the
Group, our people will then be able to develop their skills and
potentials and consider the Group to be a place that they can

pursue their long-term career goals.

BEEROTBEANEBERNIRE - RERK »
PISEEE RIS - BERETSEERE
ANBRZBZER  E—ToRREAEERER
o BRI I B F R B RA KR
e BRRAANERREB|EHCASEE
Fr RIS HAL J R PIR R R 2 BEHAL -

EREETHE X5 BRREET - M
METFERER o RRERE  BEIRA
SERERRBEREREEXB RN -
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We have a strong culture of risk management at AMVIG. The
Company continues to assess and manage its core business risks
and risk management processes, monitoring compliance with
the Group's policies that recognise business, environmental and

statutory responsibilities.

HFPRRHER AERNERERER - AR R —WEEERTE &
EREZOEBRRRERERRE YEEERHEER R
BEREAEBENASERE ZETIER -
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT
B EERE

1.

MARKET RISK

With the ever-changing business environment, the Group will
continually assess the business threats and the opportunities
that come from the ongoing tobacco packaging consolidation.
As we expect the steady growth and consolidation of tobacco
industry in China will continue, the Group is committed to
deploy abundant resources to capture additional market share.
Together with the support of product development and design
centers, it is believed that the market risk is manageable and

reasonably contained.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of potential financial loss and/or
business instability arising from failure in internal controls or
operational processes, inability to manage costs; to continue
product development and innovation; to hire and retain talent
and the failures to comply with government and environmental
regulations. The Group has over the years, made progressing

steps to manage such risks:

(1) Tendering of materials among various suppliers was
imposed so as to lessen the impact on price reduction in
the Company’s product. In order to secure the stability of
raw materials supply and the consistency of procurement
process, as well as to further reduce administration
expenses and purchase costs, the centralized procurement

process will continue to take place.

(2) Management has implemented a sophisticate operational
and benchmarking system to monitor the operational
performance of plants down to individual machine level
on a timely basis. Such system enables the Group to
further enhance the operational efficiencies through waste

reduction and improves the running speed of machines.

™35 b

BEREREEE  ARERSEETED
FEETNEERKEA MR DB R
g - HMEPESEENREEERIT
EBEBEHE  WAKEZ2 HRBFH
BRAFBMESMISME - N LEMME
KBETHROME  RABEHEERS
B AR T 5 R o

EERR

EER M AE AR EERIZ KRR
ARBEE IR - REEEBERE RAIFE
oo AERARBE AT - URABEST
BRERBEERMELEERBERE
HEBIRENER < OF - AEEE
BZERREES BN T

(1) REHEBZEETHEBERR
MR EHARRERBR THANY
2 - BRERMBHHERE RXE
MARNRE - PARGE — FIRIEF TR X
KRB - P RIRBB RIS A
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0 ERECEERENREREERS
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

3)

BERE

Sharing of resources including production capabilities
and market information remains our high priority.
Benefited by large scale of operations and production
capabilities as the industry player, the Group is in a better
position to satisfy the unique requirements set out by
customers from different location throughout China.
Resources optimization and enhancement on information
sharing among top management are done by close
communication among general managers via regular face-
to-face general conference and telephone conferencing

facilities.

3. FINANCIAL RISK

The Company is exposed to various types of financial risks,

including foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest

rate risk and fair value risk. Details of the Group's financial risk

and the management of such risks are outlined in Note 5 of

the Financial Statements.

(1)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has limited exposure to foreign currency risk
as only a minimum amount of business transactions are
denominated in currencies other than Renminbi, the
functional currency of the Company, and the respective

group entities.

On the other hand, the Company has all of its borrowings
denominated Hong Kong dollars (“HKD"). AMVIG considers
the foreign currency risks related to such borrowings were
minimal as the Company holds certain HKD assets which

will form a natural hedge against such borrowings.

3)

ERAZER/EERNRTHER
EARBKMNER - BEEBFEAR
FTHARRELLEREERN  A5H
BRIERmE P RZ M TRZEFNE
BEX - SEEEAS S BEKE
BHEREREEREFLRENE
RBIERAZER -
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ZE¥EHE - MEMAR ZINER R
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT
BB EERE

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant credit risk, which is
primarily attributable to stringent management of its
trade receivables. In addition to regular reviews of the
recoverable amount of trade receivables, the management
has also placed strict controls over working capital
management of each operation. Such measures enable
the Group to shorten its working capital cycle and

enhance cash flows.

The counterparty risk is small as the Group's customers are
mainly state-owned tobacco groups, which according to

the assessment of the management are financially healthy.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a number of counterparties

and customers.

LIQUIDITY RISK

As of the end of 2011, the Group had a net cash position
and most of its borrowings were of long-term nature. The
Group will continue its policy to monitor the cash flows of
the Group closely so that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash in the short and longer term to repay bank loans

when they fall due.

(2)

FERR
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(4)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's bank deposits bear interest at fixed interest
rates and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate

risks.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates
to variable-rate bank borrowings. With a stable outlook
for interest rates, the Group prefers to keep certain
borrowings with variable rates, rather than to enter into
interest rate swaps, which fix the interest at substantially
higher rates. AMVIG considers that interest rate risk is

minimal.

FAIR VALUES

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.

(4)

AEST
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of the Company for

the year ended 31 December 2011.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to

the financial statements.

The Group's turnover and contribution to operating result for
the year is attributable to printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of transfer papers and laser film. The analysis of the
principal activities and geographical location of the operations of

the Group are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date

are set out in the financial statements on pages 93 to 178.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK12.9 cents per
share for the six months ended 30 June 2011 (2010: HK11.2 cents
per share). The Board now recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK10.8 cents per share to the members of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
as at 29 June 2012 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011
(2010: HK11.4 cents per share).

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements and the

statements of changes in equity on page 99 respectively.

EEEMALBEFERS  ERARBE_F
—F Tt A=t R LEFERRRZLEX
FITEER -
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At 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
approximately HKS$3,066 million. Under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
The share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully

bonus shares.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011

are set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial

statements.

Details of the Group's borrowings as at 31 December 2011 are set

out in note 26 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are

set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the Company’s
share award scheme are set out in the paragraphs headed
“Share option scheme” and “Share award scheme” of this report

respectively.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group is set out on pages 179 to 180.

RZT—F+=-_A=+—8 AARZA#
DIRR e 2 REER S SEEND IR 2 FENA
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The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of

this report were as follows:

Non-executive Chairman

Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sai Wai (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Ge Su (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sai Kit

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Jerzy Czubak
(appointed on 2 December 2011)
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich
Mr. David John Cleveland Hodge
(resigned on 2 December 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric

In accordance with article 87 of the articles of association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors shall retire but, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. Any new Director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election pursuant to article 86 of the
articles of association of the Company. Details of the Directors to
be retired and subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company are contained in the circular to be

despatched together with this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to the financial

statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group and the
employer’s costs charged to the consolidated income statement for

the year are set out in notes 9 and 11 to the financial statements.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and management of the Group

are set out on pages 28 to 39 of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in note 34 to

the financial statements.
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On 14 December 2010, the Company as borrower, two subsidiaries
of the Company as guarantors, and various financial institutions as
agent, arrangers, security trustee and lenders, entered into a term
loan agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”) pursuant to which a
term loan facilities (together the “Term Loan Facilities”) in the sum
of HK$900,000,000 was made available to the Company, repayable
as to 5%, 5%, 5%, 10%, 10%, 15%, 15%, and 35% on the days which
are 15 months, 18 months, 21 months, 24 months, 27 months, 30
months, 33 months and 36 months from the date of the Term Loan
Agreement. The Term Loan Facilities was used to refinance the
loan facility granted to the Company in 2009 in full and thereafter

finance the general working capital of the Company.

On 17 December 2010, the Company as borrower, two subsidiaries
of the Company as guarantors and a financial institution as lender
also entered into a revolving loan agreement (the “Revolving
Loan Agreement”) pursuant to which a revolving loan facility (the
“Revolving Loan Facility”) in the sum of HK$100,000,000 was made
available to the Company for a period of 3 years from the date of
the Revolving Loan Agreement. The Revolving Loan Facility was

used to finance the general working capital of the Company.

It is provided in each of the Term Loan Agreement and the
Revolving Loan Agreement that if Amcor Limited fails to maintain its
beneficial ownership of not less than thirty five percent (35%) of the
shareholding of the Company or if at any time any person or group
of persons acting in concert hold more voting share capital of the
Company than Amcor Limited does, it will constitute an event of
default as a result of which all or any part of the commitments
under both the Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Loan Facility
may be cancelled and all amounts outstanding under such facilities

may immediately become due and payable.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were

entered into or existed during the year under review.
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During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 91% of the total
sales for the year and the sales attributable to the largest customer

included therein accounted for approximately 45%.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five larges
suppliers accounted for approximately 49% of the total purchases
for the year and the purchase attributable to the larges supplier

included therein accounted for approximately 17%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, any of their
associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s Shares) had any

beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates had any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either

directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

(@) Director’s interests and short positions in the
securities of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2011, the following Directors or the Chief
Executive of the Company had or were deemed to have
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO"))
(i) which were required to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
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of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provision of the
SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the

Listing Rules:

RS AIERIEHEE 2 BRmIAR)
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Approximate

percentage of
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No. of underlying issued share

Name of Director Nature of interest shares held (Note) Position capital
FrsEE HEBTRAE

EEpnE EaME RDEE (FfEE) y-¥- OB

Mr. Chan Sai Wai Beneficial owner 40,000,000 Long 4.33%

PRt (& S A BEmBEEA TR

Mr. Ge Su Beneficial owner 2,000,000 Long 0.22%

BERtE BHEAA A

Mr. Ng Sai Kit Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 3.25%

REREE okt TN wE

Note: The underlying shares represent share options granted by the
Company, further details of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of
the Directors nor the Chief Executive of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the
Listing Rules.
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(b) Persons who have an interest or short position
which is discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO

So far as is known to the Directors and the Chief Executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2011, the following persons
(not being Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) had,
or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share
Name of Shareholder Capacity Shares held Position capital
HERITRAE
RERERB 14 RO BE g BHRESL
Amcor Limited (Note) (Fff5E) Interest of controlled 442,550,000 Shares Long 47.94%
corporation
R EE R 442,550,000% {35}
Amcor Packaging (Asia) Interest of controlled 442,550,000 Shares Long 47.94%
Pty Limited (Note) (Fff5E) corporation
R EE R 442,550,000% a
Amcor Packaging (Asia) Beneficial owner 442,550,000 Shares Long 47.94%
Pty Limited (Note) (Fft3E) EmAA 442,550,000% HE
Mondrian Investment Investment manager 83,327,000 Shares Long 9.03%
Partners Limited REKE 83,327,0004% ay)
Prudential plc Interest of controlled 47,199,000 Shares Long 5.11%
corporation
DA E R 47,199,0008% HE

Note: The issued shares of Amcor Limited are listed on the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited. Amcor Packaging (Asia) Pty Limited
and Amcor Fibre Packaging-Asia Pte Limited are wholly owned
subsidiaries of Amcor Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and
the Chief Executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

All Executive Directors do not have a fixed term of appointment
but their appointment can be terminated by either party by serving
not less than one month's notice in writing. All NEDs (including
the Non-executive Chairman and the INEDs) have a fixed term of

appointment of two years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Save and except for those disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Related party transactions” above, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Director’s interests and
short positions in the securities of the Company and its associated
corporations” under the section headed “Disclosure of interests”
above and in the section headed “Share option scheme” below, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any Director, or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the

Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employees, directors, substantial shareholders of each member
of the Group or associated company or any of their respective
associates. The Share Option Scheme has become effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on 10 March 2004 and up to
40,000,000 options entitling the holders thereof to subscribe for
up to 40,000,000 Shares could be granted under the Share Option

Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the total

number of Shares in issue.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
to be notified by the Board to each grantee provided that the
period within which the Shares may be taken up under the option
must not be more than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held or the performance targets which must be achieved before an

option can be exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
provided that such price shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant of an option, (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five consecutive business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant, and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on

acceptance of the grant of an option.
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The following table shows the movements in the Company’s share

options outstanding during the year: =
Number of share options
Closing price
Cancelled/ per share
Exercised Lapsed At immediately
Name or category At 1 January Granted on during during  31December  Exercise period  Exercise price before date
of grantee 2011 28 July 2011 the year the year 2011 (Note1) per share of grant
L S HoB--% £iE
R=8—-f tA - - ER t=h ) it B HA 2
ERAERSER -B-B ZtNBRE  FAEAR BB/ &N =t-B 8 (HE)  SROEEE  SRUWE
Directors
%
Mr. Chan Sai Wai - 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 29 July 2012 to HKS4.72 HKS4.73
(Noed 27 July 2021 - -
Rt (M) —F-F 4TBT 413BT
tAZthAZ
“5--F
tA=ttA
Mr. Ge Su - 2,000,000 - - 2000000 29 July 2012 to HKS4.72 HKS4.73
27 July 2021
BRAE Z3-CF 4T0BTE 4T3BT
tAZthRZE
“E--F
tA=t+H
Mr. Ng Sai Kit - 30,000,000 - - 30000000 29 July 2012 to HKS4.72 HK$4.73
(Noted) 27 July 2021 o o
RARE (Wit2) —3-CF ATBTE AT3ET
tA=thRZE
“ET-F
tA=t+H
Sub-total - 72,000,000 = = 72,000,000
gt
Employees (other than - 18,000,000 - - 18000000 29 July 2012 to HKS4.72 HKS4.73
Directors) in aggregate 27 July 2021 o o
[ES & (B2 “E-CF 4TBT 4738
tAZthAZ
“E--F
tA-++A
Total - 90,000,000 = = 90,000,000
it
Notes: FiEE -

1. The share options will be vested to the grantees over a period of four
years (i.e. one-fourth on or after 29 July 2012, one-fourth on or after
29 July 2013, one-fourth on or after 29 July 2014 and one-fourth on or
after 29 July 2015) upon fulfillment of certain annual key performance
indicators set and/or to be set by the Board.
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2. Since: (i) the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted to each of Mr. Chan Sai Wai and
Mr. Ng Sai Kit respectively in the 12-month period exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue, and (ii) the number of share options
granted to either of them would exceed the existing scheme mandate
limit of 40,000,000 share options, such grant of share options to Mr.
Chan Sai Wai and Mr. Ng Sai Kit have been approved by shareholders of
the Company at the general meeting held on 12 September 2011.

Details of the valuation of the share options granted during the year

are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

The Company also adopted an employees’ share award scheme (the
"Employees’ Share Award Scheme”) in June 2007 for the purposes of
recognising the contributions by certain employees, providing them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and attracting suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. Under the Employees’ Share
Award Scheme, the Company may make advance to purchase the
shares (the "Awarded Shares”) of the Company to be awarded to
certain employees of the Group in accordance with the terms and
conditions imposed by the Board. The Employees’ Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years. Pursuant
to the Employees’ Share Award Scheme, an administrator has
been appointed to administer the scheme and hold the Awarded
Shares. On or after the vesting date, the participant employees
shall be entitled to sell in whole or in part of his/her Awarded
Shares through the administrator and receive the gain or bear the
loss on the disposal of the Awarded Shares, being the excess of
sales proceeds over the acquisition costs of the Awarded Shares
purchased by the Company, the loan interests and the related

income attributable to the Awarded Shares disposed.

Up to 31 December 2011, an aggregate of 28,484,000 Awarded
Shares were acquired by the Company by way of advances for
the benefits of the employees under the Employees’ Share Award

Scheme.
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The board of directors of the Company recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK10.8 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK11.4 cents) to be payable to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company as at 29 June 2012. Subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on or about
22 June 2012, the said final dividend will be paid to the Company’s
shareholders around 16 July 2012.

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

1. from Thursday, 14 June 2012 to Thursday, 21 June 2012 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfers of shares will
be registered, for ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
attend and vote at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
to be held on or about Friday, 22 June 2012. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting, all transfer shares of the Company accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 13 June 2012; and

2. from Thursday, 28 June 2012 to Friday, 29 June 2012 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfers of shares
will be registered, for ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to receive the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2011. In order to be eligible to receive the proposed
final dividend, all transfer shares of the Company accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 June 2012.
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total

issued share capital was held by the public as at 31 December 2011.

Details of the corporate governance are set out in the section

headed “Corporate Governance Report”in this report.

The Company set up an audit committee (the “Committee”) on 10
March 2004 for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision
on the financial reporting process and internal control system of

the Group.

The Committee comprises the three INEDs with Mr. Tay Ah Kee,

Keith acting as Chairman.

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2011 together with the notes attached
thereto have been reviewed by the Committee, which was of
the opinion that such statements complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements, and

that adequate disclosures have been made.
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RSM Nelson Wheeler will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM
Nelson Wheeler as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

There is no change in auditors of the Company since the first

appointment on 1 December 2003.

On behalf of the Board
Chan Chew Keak, Billy

Non-executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB AR E

RSM Nelson Wheeler
PIGEE(FB)STMmEBLMHR
Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AMVIG HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AMVIG
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 178, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENRE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2011
and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

makER

For the year ended 31 December 2011

BE-T—F+-A=t+-HILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
P s FHExT FHET
Turnover 2 6 3,370,001 2,651,161
Cost of goods sold $HE R A (2,231,325) (1,715,116)
Gross profit EF 1,138,676 936,045
Other income HEaugA 6 53,323 36,184
Selling and distribution costs $HE K B Ak AR (148,572) (87,087)
Administrative expenses TR X (252,977) (199,674)
Other operating expenses E g s (374) (8,062)
Non-operating items ElF NS 7 = 49,419
Finance costs AhE KA 8 (26,508) (34,860)
Share of profit of associates [N bl 60,788 85,420
Profit before tax BAEF 9 824,356 777,385
Income tax expenses TS fi X 12 (242,906) (176,632)
Profit for the year AEE i F 581,450 600,753
Attributable to: T &AL
Owners of the Company RATIEB A 547,823 570,914
Non-controlling interests FEIE S RE RS 33,627 29,839
Earnings per share BREF
— basic (HK cents) — HAR () 13(a) 59.3 60.2
~ diluted (HK cents) —#5g OB 13(b) N/A FiE A N/A A3 F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e EEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE-_Z—F+-_A=+—HIFE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-%F
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
P & FERT FAT
Profit for the year REE T 581,450 600,753
Other comprehensive income:  H{i2E U :
Exchange gain on translating PO EETE Z FEH,
foreign operations Wz 178,030 164,845
Reversal of exchange gain from HERHEE SR
foreign currency translation & R B N 3
reserve account to profit or loss R POl E
on the disposal of available-for- W =B
sale financial assets - (133,514)
Gain on cash flow hedges b A DA Dl s - 4319
Other comprehensive income  Z<4F EE H fth 2 H W 2
for the year, net of tax (BHIBHE) 15 178,030 35,650
Total comprehensive income AEEZHENE
for the year #zE 759,480 636,403
Attributable to: BT &5
Owners of the Company KARHEA A 718,087 600,135
Non-controlling interests FEPEH MR 41,393 36,268
759,480 636,403




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A AR R R

At 31 December 2011 ——F+-_A=+—
2011 2010
—E——F T—TF
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
B st FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEG 16 623,019 711,229
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS S T RIE 17 22,812 22,567
Goodwill Ha 18 2,627,422 2,538,229
Interests in associates NNl 19 145,763 117,615
Loan receivables EURE R 20 301,719 308,536
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ A fS4E SR EE 21 1,701 1,631
Other assets HiEE 91,223 71,036
3,813,659 3,770,843
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 416,101 359,984
Trade and other receivables B 5 I Hopth FE U R IE 23 568,932 781,690
Prepaid land lease payments FENHEE IR 17 727 697
Prepayments and deposits AR FEREZE 46,811 57,771
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITIFER 24 = 15,863
Bank and cash balances RITRIR B AR 24 1,715,341 997,278
2,747,912 2,213,283
Total assets EEAT 6,561,571 5,984,126
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves B R G#E
Share capital %N 29 9,231 9,231
Reserves e 31 4,345,022 3,829,656
Equity attributable to owners RAEER AFEMS
of the Company Eam 4,354,253 3,838,887
Non-controlling interests P 1 FE S 190,834 179,228
Total equity ERER 4,545,087 4,018,115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MR R HRE

98
2011 2010
%
2 e —F—F
HeEr
§ Note HK$'000 HK$'000
E('j ks FHERT BT
oy
>
=
= LIABILITIES =R
g Non-current liabilities FREBEE
a Bank borrowings RITEN 26 769,260 578,467
§ Other long-term payables Hi R HIEN I8 27 _ 235,082
& Deferred tax liabilities ELEBIEBE 28 68,283 61,833
|1
i 837,543 875,382
|
i
o Current liabilities REBEE
z Trade and other payables Z 5 RN KA 25 912,897 1,046,400
c
= Current tax liabilities NEAFIBEE 48,714 44,111
[0)
E Current portion of bank borrowings $R1T{EF 2 BN &85 26 217,330 18
8
1,178,941 1,090,629
Total liabilities EEHEE 2,016,484 1,966,011
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 6,561,571 5,984,126
Net current assets REBEEFRE 1,568,971 1,122,654
Total assets less current liabilities & E &R RE A& 5,382,630 4,893,497
Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2012 R-E——FE=A-_t+hBEZEESHE
Chan Chew Keak, Billy Ge Su
g E&
Chairman Executive Director

E HITEF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERR2ER

For the year ended 31 December 2011

HE—ZZ

——f+=A=+-HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEL
Employee Foreign
share-based  currency Non-
Share Share Special ¢ [ation  Revaluati Hedging  Statutory  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve - reserves profits Total interests equity
HR#RAZ bk FEM
Bx  RBRE GHRE EEMERE IERE  BRHE  HWHE  iEEE  REM &3t BE RE4E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn  TEn  TER T TRR  TER TR TEr TR TEr  TEr TEn
At 1T January 2010 W-5-35-f-A 1090 3881877 6,060 - 453062 8010 (4319 16213 1105573 5623499 162163 5785662
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEF2ANZEE - - - - 490 - 4319 - S094 600135 36268 636403
Transfer fiom retained profts EREREEA
- Gioup -K&E - - - - - - - 5587 (5587) - - -
Putchase of non-contrlling nterest (Note 7(b) B8 ESE R &[4 (Ms7b)R
and Note 33a) HiE33(a) - - B - - - - - - sne 52)
Dividend paic for 2009 (Note 14) THZFBAERE (Hit4) - - - - - - - -8 (14587 - (8
Dividend paid for 2010 (Note 14) THZE-EERE (W) - - - - - - - -39 (10339 - (B39
Divdend paid to non-contraling SRERSIERR
shareholders (&) - - - - - - - - - - (4084) (4084
Share buy back (Note 7(3) BERR (Hitre) (1669 (13%.726) - - - - - - - (1383%) - (13839%)
Changes in equity for the year TEREREY (1669 (139720  (737103) - 2490 - 4319 SS7 3608 (1784610 17065 (1767547)
At 31 December 2010 R-B-BE+-f=1-8 931 2485151  (731,083) = 478,164 8,010 = 167,723 1421651 3,838,887 179208 4018115
Total comprehensive income for the year  ZEE2AUREE - - - - 170264 - - - SI8B TIB0ET  M1393 759480
Transfer from retained profits EREREE
- Group -k58 - - - - - - - 639 (639) - - -
Dividend paid for 2010 (Note 14) XH-5-FERE (W) - - - - - - - - (105239 (105239) - (10529)
Dividend paid for 2011 (Note 14) TH-E--ERE (Hie) - = = - - - - - (119,086)  (119,086) - (119,086)
Dividend paid to non-controlling EHFRHERR
shareholders ke - - - - - - - - - - (978 (9780)
Employee share-based compensation R %ft 2 EEMERERI
benefits - - - 21,604 - - - - - 21,604 - 21,604
Changes in equityfor the year RERREST - - - 2604 170264 - - 69 3m859 51536 1606 5269m
At 31 December 2011 W-B--£+-A=t-R 9231 2485151 (731,083) 2604 648428 8,010 - 168,362 1744510 4,354,253 190,834 4,545,087
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

BE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
nV_\/EI\EEE‘;}E%%%

-

—=

F+-A=t—BIFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM REEBK2RE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RE
Profit before tax Tt A g ) 824,356 777,385
Adjustments for: FATIHEEB EHAE -
Share of profit of associates FEAGEE = R FE (60,788) (85,420)
Finance costs BB 26,508 34,860
Impairment losses/(reversal of FEUR A 2 B ETE
impairment losses) on receivables CREEERE) 10 (458)
Write down/(reversal of allowance) of R (B3 )
inventories FE 887 (3,339)
Depreciation e 84,112 92,533
Loss on disposals of property, plantand  HEWE - BE M&E
equipment Z 518 8,688 2,953
Interest income FBEUA (21,390) (14,296)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TERHEE IR
payments k1 712 678
Employee shared-based compensation IBRHEZAEES
benefits B < 12 F 21,604 -
Non-operating items e EIEE - (49,419
Unrealised profit on closing inventories  SEXMIE A G HERFEE
sold to associates, net ZAREBE R R - (409)
Operating profit before working RETBELSEBA
capital changes P bl 884,699 755,068
Increase in inventories FaEEm (57,004) (67,352)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 R H M e FIER L
receivables (3ghn) 221,308 (194,637)
Decrease in prepayments AR RIE MRS
and deposits Do 21,960 10,633
Decrease in trade and other payables Z 5 Rk B At FE T IR (117,094) (19,537)
Cash generated from operations LER S0k 953,869 484,175
Income taxes paid S TS TR (190,409) (120,139)
Withholding taxes paid ST (46,146) (37,568)
Net cash generated from RELEEBKHES
operating activities JRRE 717,314 326,468




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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2011 2010 5
—E——F —Z-F %
HK$’000 HKS$'000 $
FERT FABTT §
o
z
CASH FLOWS FROM REFHHRS 3
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE g
=]
9
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BEIRITEZTRD 5
bank deposits (&) 15,863 (3,094) g
Purchases of property, plant and BEVE BEX —
equipment A (34,741) (46,715) ¥
Payments of deposits for other assets HMBEZF 23R (33,209) (2,022) :
Dividend received from associates BRI SN 58,567 54,850 E
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BEK&E #
plant and equipment FR8 508 60,281 1,445 z
Net proceed from disposal of HEAHHESRERE E;;
available-for-sale financial assets Z TSI 58 = 702,251 é
Interest received 2HFIE 21,390 14,296 %
Repayment of loan receivables JEWE FUER 6,817 7,601 -
Purchase of non-controlling interests U B FEAE ) I A
(Note 33(a)) (M15E33(a)) (235,082) (300,160)
Capital injection to an associate EER A AT (20,030) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE (), EEN
investing activities B /558 (160,144) 428,452




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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) 2011 2010
pe:S
i, —E——fF — T T4
Her
§ HK$’000 HK$'000
2 FBT T
I
al|
2
5 CASH FLOWS FROM MEFHNRE
z FINANCING ACTIVITIES HE
g
= Bank borrowings repaid EBRITER (118) (1,133,008)
g Bank borrowings raised SHERTEN 400,000 589,741
— Other financial liabilities paid SHEMSREE - (29,653)
M Interest paid S FB (18,385) (30,565)
I Dividend paid to owners of the Company Sz 7R A RIHEA AR S (224,325) (249,249)
ﬁ Dividend paid to non-controlling A IR I 1 AR B
e shareholders [id5A (33,871) -
z
>
5
> Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFHELE (FA) K
g financing activities WeFHE 123,301 (852,734)
3
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HeRBESSEWHEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) #5E 680,471 (97,814)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXRE ) & 37,592 35,882
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—B—BHERER
AT 1 JANUARY REeEEY 997,278 1,059,210
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+t=-—A=+—H#K
AT 31 DECEMBER BHeRESEEY 1,715,341 997,278
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HeRBESEEYN
CASH EQUIVALENTS 2T

Bank and cash balances RITRIA R 1,715,341 997,278




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS Rk MY &

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 27 November 2003
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands. The address of
its registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman
Islands, British West Indies. The address of its principal place
of business is Room 601-602, 6th Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the

financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants that are relevant to its operations and effective
for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2011. HKFRSs
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS");
Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The
adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result
in significant changes to the Group's accounting policies,
presentation of the Group's financial statements and amounts

reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs
but is not yet in a position to state whether these new HKFRSs
would have a material impact on its results of operations and

financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the

historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise their
judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies.
The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial

statements, are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below.

(a) CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which
the Group has control. Control is the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the

Group has control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHBEER (&)

(continued)

(a) CONSOLIDATION (continued) (a) 4rEWRE (&)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation

reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of

the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in

the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

CONSOLIDATION (continued)

Changes in the Company’'s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners

of the Company.

BUSINESS COMBINATION AND GOODWILL

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in an acquisition are measured at their

acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as a gain on

bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) BUSINESS COMBINATION AND GOODWILL

(continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as
that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy
(e) below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the

acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s

identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

ASSOCIATES

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policies of
an entity but is not control or joint control over those
policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant

influence.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S B AR Y

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) ASSOCIATES (continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in the

consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements
in reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency

translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) ASSOCIATES (continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and

its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's

interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an

impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of

associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HKS, which is the Company’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB"). The Directors consider that choosing HKS as
the presentation currency best suits the needs of the

shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in

the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are

determined.

3. TEEFEE (&)

(c) BT (&)
WHAEERABEATNNRS 2K
SEF TYAR R BB S AR 2
BAR MAZRERAETNZH

BE

BRREEZEELRRER

TTTLALEE - g QR 2 BFTHED
RBERELED  AEREKREE
FER 2 BRR BB — B -

(d) FMNEE 5 4%

(i)

(if)

0

WM 2 HIE%
AEESBEEBNMBREMEA
B ERRENERNRBERR
MER (e E%)) itE- &
AEMBRRTIUEBT (KRFZ
Z2IEE) 25 - AAFMIEE
EER/ARE AR - &%
RBRBEREBETRAZIER R
NABRRERREENTE -

u

HINERZR SN B RERRIAR S H
HIRS RO [E R M RThEE G - DA
SNEEHIRC EBBERBBERE
RS B ER A SR B K 4
SMBURE SR KB RNME
R ©

AN N ERTEMIEERIAR
ERAEEZATEBMEX’
& .

LLOz Moday |enuuy M ——&— ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘8




N
N
o

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 AR P

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHBER (&)

‘ LLOZ Moday [enuuy Y — —& = ‘ panwi sBUIP|OH DIAWY [£ 7 ¥ B 31 S 36 ‘

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchanges component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain

or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

- Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on

the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

(continued)
(d) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION (continued) (d) FhEEH IR (42)
(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s (il REEBRVERRZ2RG K
financial statements (continued) R (48)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS Rk MY o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION (continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at

the closing rate.

(e) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except goodwill, inventories and receivables to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset

belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in the profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % AR P

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (continued)

—

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated

as a revaluation increase.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured

reliably.

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods is
recognised on the transfer of significant risks and rewards
of ownership, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered and the title has passed to

the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis

using the effective interest method.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be

received.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS (continued)

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the

related assets.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs direct attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing cost

eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during
the period, other than borrowings made specifically for

the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % AR P

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of

leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.

3. FESHBEE (&)

(i) FFERFAERAR
MR TIE 2 XN E SRR AR

¥ o

() E’ERR

(i)

(iii

REERZRY

BEZFRERBREERANE
BEISHE TIAER - BEHREH
e 45 SR B R B P IR (1 2 IR TS T 22
2 FBRERBRE R 2 A5
BECAHREE -

RBEZHEEMERSD HERN
B BIRREE 7T 2 HER -

RINGAYE

7N & [ 7] 7E 2R A ROR IRET B
HHK 2REEHITL2HEZ
ETE - FrEMRBEAEERES

REBEAF e REE LI
o BER AR ZRRERFT
BRI AL ERZE S
ZﬁiW\ °

B R A

M 7 5= B AR A B 4% LE 1R AR 1 Hh
BRREAT—EEERE TR
ZHMBERFETEE S BB
Bmiedfias (REELLDLER
) - BRI BB R o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

BENEFITS

The Group issues employee share-based compensation
benefits to certain directors and employees.

Employee share-based compensation benefits to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the employee share-
based compensation benefits is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

TAXATION

Income tax represents the sum of current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profits as reported in
income statement because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS Rk MY o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(I) TAXATION (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly to equity, in which case

the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and

the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.

(m) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

3. 8

BETEE (2)

BIE ()

HRRHMBRRRBE AR ZREE
ERRAEREEER  EEHEAE
TRERR - ME i A< 5 [ R 4% )18 2 BT B
ERNEREZERA LR AR
EIE G

TR A B 2 R AR & & HifE
ERERE - LR T BRI
ARBUE N EHHEE 2 2BMREBNE
ERKAR -

BEEBRAREERENBREE LY
B 78 A% % S & HAR A SRS 2 AR
EREEERZERBEGE - RIE
MIRRBE MR - MR BRI
smERRHEMEE RS BB A
AITAR E 2 am S B R N G
i o

EREAR LA RFRIT RN E
BB R B BT R R B E
VAR 8 HL R — TR TS H B P 2 P
SHARIY B A EEEIRFREEE
ERHRBEENRARER  REREA
EENBERTEHE -

m) ¥ ~ BEKRRE

YE R LR EAK AR 25T E
MO E RSB -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3. TEGFBXR (&)

(m) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) (m) 2% - BMENKE (&)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during

the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a

straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Leasehold improvements 3 - 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-15 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available

for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant assets,

and is recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S B AR Y

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realised
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realised
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and

the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

RECOGNITION AND DERECOGNITION OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive

income is recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid is recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3. TEGFBXR (&)

(p) INVESTMENTS (p) RE

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the

case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets not classified as trade and other
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Available-
for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of these investments are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, until the investments
are disposed of or there is objective evidence that
the investments are impaired, at which time the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are recognised in the profit or loss.
Interest calculated using the effective interest method is

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for equity
investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets
are not subsequently reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss for
debt instruments classified as available-for-sale financial
assets are subsequently reversed and recognised in profit
or loss if an increase in the fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the

recognition of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R A AR B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

INVESTMENTS (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in a active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that
are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost
less any identified impairment losses at the end of each

reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference
between the receivables’ carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. The

amount of the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
and recognised in profit or loss when an increase in
the receivables’ recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying
amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would

have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

=

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities

and equity instruments are set out in (t) to (v) below.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % R P

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(w) LEASES

(i)

(ii)

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. At the commencement of the
lease term, a finance lease is capitalised at the
lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minimum lease payments, each

determined at the inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the statement of financial position as obligation under
finance leases. Lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated
to each period during the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same

as owned assets over their estimated useful lives.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % R P

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y) RELATED PARTIES (continued)

(B)

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if

any of the following conditions applies:

(iii)

(vii

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are

also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

(z) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when

material.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4.

ESTIMATES
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
residual values, and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. Management will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives or residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or

non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % R P

4, CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(b)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the fair value less cost to sell of the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The
fair value less cost to sell calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
approximately HK$2,627,422,000. Details of the Group's

goodwill are stated in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables
and loan receivables

The Group makes impairment loss on receivables based on
assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and loan receivables, including the current
creditworthiness, the past collection history and securities
(if any) of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of impairment loss on
receivables requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the actual result is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
the trade and other receivables and loan receivables and
impairment loss on receivables in the year in which such

estimate has been changed.

Allowance for inventories and net realisable
value of inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the aging and
estimated net realised value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and write-down/write-back in

the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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ZHEESELBEMN 2 AFERBERAR
WATE - ERTE AT ERM B SR A
W AREBRGHZREELSBNE
EZARFRESRE - WABEE 2R
K EHBE - NRE AREARE
P& 2 R E B 4 £2,627,422,0007%
T AEBE A EHBEHNUBRE
PisE18 ©

g5 REHMEWHRIENEKE
B R 1E
AEEREE S K E MR NE
WEZRN AR EERE - BRE—F&
BAZ RS8N R E LRl ik
RERE (0F) 1Fh BURR 2R
BER - EFHABERABCBREX
Yo ol 5 51 B EE AEORLME - 38 B MR IR
ZRMEEIRT B (FHHI B R A E o
FERBRAMNN GG - AIARH
ERRTERZMGA AR ZFERNE
5 B EoAth 8 WK OR B FE M B R 2 BR TE
BEA R YRR Z BIEREE

FERERFENEIEEE

FEBEIIZERZREK RS A&
FFERIRE - BRSENTEREE
BT R AR - ERRNERERE
ARG RIBREEBZER
ZG R ENFEREATFEIREER
MR
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4, CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(d) Allowance for inventories and net realisable

value of inventories (continued)

Net realised value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor
actions in response to the serve market environment.
The Group will reassess the estimates by the end of each
reporting period.

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the
provisions for income taxes and deferred tax. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination

is made.

Employee share-based compensation benefits

The fair value of the share options granted to the directors
and employees determined at the date of grant of the
respective share options is expensed over the vesting
period, with a corresponding adjustment to the Group's
employee share-based compensation reserve. In assessing
the fair value of the share options, the Black-Scholes
option pricing model (the “Black-Scholes Model”) was
used. The Black-Scholes Model is one of the generally
accepted methodologies used to calculate the fair value
of the share options. The Black-Scholes Model requires the
input of subjective assumptions, including the expected
dividend yield and expected life of options. Any changes
in these assumptions can significantly affect the estimate
of the fair value of the share options.

4. EEHEREEZMT ()

THEMTFZEERR (&)

(d)

FERELRGFEANERFE
(%)

FEZAERFEERTEBRBESD
It E BRI TR 2 RA RIHE
X - ZEFhEFAREERTRREE
FMIHERBERBELRME @ X
SREFRRBERBFHFRER
RTRIER 2 TR MBEEREE - K
SEBN S HmEHRE R ERN G

ZE i -

PR HE

EEEMSH LR IBRER RS
BRETRENMGATE - ERAEX
BRRTERZR G RFAHE &K
MIBRIBREFETHETEMN - WEZF
B ERMZ R ERNRVCENE
HEEEZR  ARSEESHERTE
R EHRMEERBABRBELY
 ,

AR AT R B B I 2 18 A

RTEENERZEEBRENED
EAZAFEDINEBHBEASIER
X W AEE AR AT H) 2 B
ERAIELAAEFE - NAFHERE
ZRHERDIRBE R — SFRNE
BREEREN ((Bhx - FRiE
XD - BhR - FEMEXDFE
BEREAFEEBRAZITEZ— -
AR — FRAEAZRFATER
& BIEFEMR B Y as IR B AR
HIR - ZEFRBRELEMES) 98
BEZEBBEATEZMER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance. The Directors have established
management policies, guidelines and control procedures to

manage the Group's exposure to such risks.

(a) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of respective Group entities, such as HKS and
USD. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need

arise.

At 31 December 2011, if the RMB had weakened 7% (2010:
7%) against HKS and USD with all other variables held
constant, the impact on consolidated profit after tax are
summarised in the following table. The sensitivity analysis
includes outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 7% (2010: 7%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number indicates an increase in consolidated
profit. If the RMB had strengthened 7% (2010: 7%) against
HKS$ and USD with all other variables held constant, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on consolidated

profit after tax, and the balances below would be negative.

PR EE

AEEZAHEEAMH SR BRR - 8
EHINERR - FERAR  RBEZRERK
MEmE g o NEE 2 ERERREIEGEE
AR SEAERRAZEAZRSLEE
BRESAEETBRRBETNTE
EEDRVERRR - 15 RIEFRFN)
EEASERENZFER

(a) FNESREBR

MR AKEETERRS EERA
BAREEEERIREEE I ZE
B (mBTRER) GHE WAKE
EHE TINERE - SMNE R R F
WEHIR - ANEE B AL ES NS
R BERBBEMINEEIPHEER -
REB BT Y ERELIINERBAKFE
W HREHEEERBEHERIINER
B o

R_ZE—F+=-_A=+—8 " HA
REFBTRETRZES (ZE—F
F7%)  BEFABEEMAZEREZR
BAE  HEGEeMBENITZERT
B o LLBURE DT BIEAREEI
BAEE®IER  WRFER7% (=
T—FF %) 2INBERSEHFE
HRE o EHE NG RMNIGI o 5
ARBEEBTRETHEIS (ZF—
TE 7%) - REFFBEMAIEEE
RETE  BEEETERMNEER
LEHETE MIIEREREE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBEBRER (&) 1291
(continued) T
o
. [
(a) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (continued) ) JNEEE B (42) >§t
=
Impact of HKS Impact of USD E
B 2R z
o
2011 2010 2011 2010 T
—g-—-% ~—T-% —g-—-% ~—T-% H
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 5
T T FBT T g
[
Consolidated profit after tax 43 & Fi 12 Y 7 (37,875)" (17,683)7 21 43 “):3'
|
_FR
(i)  This is mainly a result of net foreign exchange loss on loan () WHEFZBUBTHEZERER g
receivables, bank and cash balances, other payables and %ETT&EE SRR - BB RIE RIR >
bank borrowings denominated in HKS. TIER 2 [ 5 1B F P 3R - §
(i) This is mainly a result of net foreign exchange gain on bank (i) Etﬁ/g‘lgﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁEZﬁEﬁ&fﬁ -?
and cash balances and other payables denominated in USD. & aE R N E 4 BN RROE 2 PE N U A
B - g
(b) CREDIT RISK (b) FER

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances
including pledged bank deposits, trade and other
receivables, deposits and loan receivables included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to

the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a number of counterparties

and customers.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. The Group has policies in place and the
exposure to credit risk is managed through the application
of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring process.
The Group's senior management performs on-going
credit evaluation and regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt regularly to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are recognised for

irrecoverable debts.

RAMBIRRRRARED EART

FRZRITRREEH  BHREAM

FEWRIE - Re R EKERZRE

B BARERESREERH &
D/\J_nguu °

$%@Iﬁik%¢ﬁi§ﬂ - B
RBEDBERZHFHIRER -

FEENEERREIESREE SR
WkIR - REBETABK - XEBH
%EE B EERBLEREREFE
BEERR AEESRERERHE
ETEENE  EHMEHSRENE
SERZFTRE S - ARERE AT
Y el 2 [R5 R E RO R (BB R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % R P

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(b) CREDIT RISK (continued)

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are mainly banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Loan receivables from employees as disclosed in Note
20 to the financial statements will be repaid when the
shares awarded to the employees, which are held by an
administrator appointed by the Company, are disposed of.
The Group's senior management performed regular review
on the recoverable amount of loan receivables to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are recognised.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as

follows:

5. BERER (&)

(b)

=ERRE (&)

ROTLBHEBRZEERRBRER -
REFHERREBBRERFREE
BRTERSERFRZRT -

MR T RE s REEE R
FoBRETREE (HARRIZREZ
EEARH) ZBHHERERE -
AEBZRRELEENRNEEE
A2 AN E &R - ARERBERR B SR
EEE

REE S E R
AEBZRKRERERRE REH
ZRBELTEE  URRALFHRI
EREHERRERDELEEZR
SR -

AEESREBEZIHASFOT

Between 1 and Between 2 and

Less than 1 year 2 years 5 years
—FR —EZ-F —ERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET FHET
At 31 December 2011 R=-B——F
+=A=+-8
Bank borrowings HRITER 238,980 783,462 -
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMER
I 912,897 = =
At 31 December 2010 RZE—FF
+=-A=+—8
Bank borrowings RITER 13,979 145,878 452,928
Trade and other payables E 5 R E A RS
RIA 1,046,400 - -
Other long-term payables H b = BAFE ST 5RIE - 235,082 -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. IRABRER (&)

(continued)

(d) INTEREST RATE RISK (d) FIZ=[E e

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its bank deposits and bank borrowings. The Group's
bank deposits of approximately HK$1,049,763,000
(2010:HK$371,638,000) bear interests at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.
The Directors consider the Group's exposure to interest
rate risk on the bank deposits is not significant as interest

bearing bank balances are within short maturity period.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates
to variable-rate bank borrowings which bear interest
at variable rates varied with then prevailing market

condition.

At 31 December 2011, if the interest rate had been 100
basis point (2010: 100 basis point) lower, with all other
variables held constant, the impact on consolidated
profit after tax are summarised in the following table. The
sensitivity analysis includes outstanding bank borrowings
and adjusts the respective interest rates at the year end of
100 basis point (2010: 100 basis point). A positive number
indicates an increase in consolidated profit. If the interest
rate had been 100 basis point (2010: 100 basis point)
higher, with all other variables held constant, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on consolidated profit

after tax and the balances below would be negative.

REBARITHEREBTERME
HRERRR - AEEZRITERD
7$1,049,763,000/ 7T (Z & — & F ¢
371,638,000 7T) & @ & F F &
B MEHATEFERE - ARG
BIRITHABI ARG - WEERA
NEBMREITERMEE 2 FERAR
KFIFREK °

AREZRSRAERRESRLL
RITEREM - RERITERREY
BEREE BRI 8 -

RZTE——F+_A=+—8 " Al
ERNEI00EE (Z T — T4 1008
) BEMEEMAZEAZRET
B HGRARBRNZZENTRM
oo WHURE S TR IERERERTE
o WA AR T AR 1005
(ZE—ZF  100&£ ) - FEHET
fRA R AN o W F = £ 1005 2
(ZZE—ZTF 1008 BRFAA
Hir] S RERFTE - GHGEER
BERNELRSAEPE - T N4
R Y=3=F

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHExT FAET

Consolidated profit after tax RAETIE R 8,2380 4,8310

(i) This is mainly a result of the decrease in interest expenses on
bank borrowings.

() FETBRHRITERZIASHAXIT
B FTEK -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MERAKRER (&)
(continued)
(e) CATEGORISES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AS AT e) P+ZB=1+t—H&mI Az
31 DECEMBER E=hs]|
2011 2010
—B——F —2-F
HK’$000 HKS$'000
TERT FAETT
Financial assets: ERMEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AIEEE M EE 1,701 1,631
Loans and receivables (including cash B & EWFIE (B1F
and cash equivalents) ReRBEESEED) 2,585,992 2,103,367
Financial liabilities: tEEeE
Financial liabilities measured at BREER AT EZ &/
amortised cost aE 1,899,487 1,860,067
(f) FAIRVALUE l ~FE

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.

RAMBIRRRRAMEAEE SR
EEMERABRZEAEREAZAR
FERE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % AR P

6. TURNOVER AND OTHER INCOME 6. EXRFRAEMUA
The Group is principally engaged in the printing of cigarette AEFBTERESEERDENR REBE R
packages and manufacturing of transfer paper and laser film. EHE Bl o REF 7 SEBENEMU
An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other income is as ADBITT
follows:
2011 2010
2% s
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Turnover R
Cigarette packages BlERK 3,333,193 2,572,372
Transfer paper and laser film AN SRS IE 36,808 78,789
3,370,001 2,651,161
Other income E A A
Gain on sales of scrapped materials SHE R 2 W 4,580 8,102
Interest income FBUA 21,390 14,296
Compensation received 2R E 1,857 298
Government grants received B U RL
— Unconditional grants relating —EBEBREER
to expenses item AR MERL 6,912 3,822
Exchange gain M 3 e 16,977 7,083
Sundry income U A 1,607 2,583

53,323 36,184
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % R P

7. NON-OPERATING ITEMS

7. & IEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
P s FET FHTT

Gain on disposal of HERAHIEECMEE
available-for-sale financial assets 2 U (@) = 99,617

Notional interests on other B RIE &

payables FE (b) - (18,102)
Others Hity = (32,096)
- 49,419

(a)

In February 2010, the Group completed the disposal of
the entire equity interests of Brilliant Circle International
Holdings Limited (“Brilliant Circle”) and all debts (the
"Debts”) owing or incurred by Brilliant Circle (together
with its subsidiaries and associated company, the “Brilliant

Circle Group”) to the Group (“the Disposal”).

Brilliant Circle Group had been presented as available-
for-sale financial assets as at 31 December 2009. The
consideration of the Disposal was satisfied by cash
of approximately HK$880,000,000 and by transferring
166,814,000 shares of the Company held by Mr. Tsoi
Tak, a director and original owner of the Brilliant Circle
Group. The gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets represented the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of available-for-sale
financial assets together with any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve and the Debts, net of

transaction costs incurred for the Disposal.

(a)

RZE-—ZF_F FAEETKLE
EBIERERBR AT ([EBHER])
2 AR R B R AR (B ECPTE A
ARk —EEE A TSN EEITRE
B RN HBEASEEz 2 HEE
(MEED (THESRHE]) -

EREREEN —_TENF T A=
T—HEERIRAHEESMEE -
=18 2 R B LATR € £9880,000,000
%m&ﬁﬂ@%&% gk BEH

REB2EZHREBAREZ
166,814,000l R A B RN Z T -« HE
AEHE SR EE 2 MBI RIS
©EVEE N AR RN Kk
R ETE 2 & A8 A IR A
ZEZEZE (BHNREEEHEEEZ
RPEA) -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR o

7. NON-OPERATING ITEMS (continued)

(b)

On 22 December 2009, World Grand Holdings Limited
("“World Grand”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Dragon Hill Group Limited for the acquisition of the
remaining 45% equity interests in Famous Plus Group
Limited (“Famous Plus”), a subsidiary of the Company, at
a consideration of RMB670,000,000. The consideration
will be satisfied by cash on instalment basis up until 31
December 2012. After completion of the acquisition in
February 2010, Famous Plus became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Group.

The amount represents the difference between the
deferred components of the consideration together with
the transaction costs, measured at amortised cost and the

face value of the other long-term payables (Note 27).

8. FINANCE COSTS

-

(b)

S

KEIEE (&)

RZZZNFF+ZAZ+=H " &&%
Erz2ENBRARIERERMAERAR
([M2)) BEEEBERARGILE
E i - ARE A K ¥670,000,0007T
WEARRMB AR HBREEBRA
B (TR ]) BT 245%0% 4 - ZR(E
BRSO NEE=2—=
F+ZA=+—H RZE—ZTF=
AR EEIRE  HBEKRALSE
Eo2EWBAT -

ZHBEEREZEERNERAXHE
A REHEK A E) BEbRAE
NFEmEEz Mz 28R (HF27) -

8. BB

2011 2010

—E2——F —E -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Interest on bank borrowings TERZ R B 26,508 32,675
Fair value loss on interest-rate swaps: P& B2 AT EEE

Cash flow hedge (transfer from equity) WemEd (ERaE= = 2,185

26,508 34,860
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting)

the following:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 AR P

. BiADR A

AEBEZzBAEMNEMEGEA) AT
A -
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2011 2010
—E——F —T-FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FA&T
Auditors' remuneration 1Z AN B & 3,000 2,900
Cost of inventories sold (Note) HEFEMA (M) 2,231,325 1,715,116
Depreciation e 84,112 92,533
Exchange gain, net e H e - JF5E (16,977) (7,083)
Impairment loss on property, plant and L E =Y NE
equipment (included in ZB(EEE
non-operating items) (G AJE=1ER) = 29,715
Loss on disposals of property, plantand ~ HEWZE « FE M &E
equipment 2 &8 8,688 2,953
Operating lease rentals in respect of BT BFRRE
land, buildings and equipment ZISEHERS 26,030 28,543
Research and development costs fiff 75 K B A AN 312 111
Staff costs including Directors' emoluments B TA(A (BIFESHE)
- Salaries, bonuses and allowances —He - JEALRORRE 274,274 230,992
— Employee share-based compensation — U ZHaEE
benefits B & 42 A 21,604 -
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREREE
contributions R 12,601 10,657
308,479 241,649
Write down/(reversal of allowance) WoRL, (B s )
of inventories (A 887 (3,339)
Impairment losses/(reversal of FEU I8 2 RIEEE
impairment losses) on receivables ORERER D)
— Trade receivables — B 5 RIGIE (115) (10)
- Other receivables — Efth YR IE 125 (448)
10 (458)




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR &

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Note: Cost of inventories sold includes the following which are also

9. BANGER (4F)

e : A AR BIE T AU - IR S

included in the respective amounts disclosed separately above: ELEXBTHEZSEES
2011 2010
—E——F —Z-Z

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Depreciation e 70,870 77,993
Operating lease rentals in respect of land, Bt BFLREREZ

buildings and equipment wEHERS 16,470 18,517

Research and development costs 9 R BB A AN 16 -

Staff costs 8 TITA 144,411 122,788

Write down/(reversal of allowance) of inventories Ul /(B #EE) 7 & 887 (2,226)

10.DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules

and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are

NV.EERSRITRAENE

AT AIREETRAREERFRIE

61 EZEZWE

as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Fees we
Executive directors HITEER - 147
Non-executive directors IEMITES 1,292 1,162
Independent non-executive directors BYIERITESE 2,200 2,219
Other emoluments Hie
Executive directors WITES
— Basic salaries, allowances and benefits ~ — EARFHS - 28 K%
in kind EWEH 22,228 14,368
~ Employee share-based compensation — U 2 HIEE
benefits B < 18 A 20,223 -
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions  — 3BRKEFFT 2 24 26
45,967 17,922
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR &

10.DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments of each director for the years ended 31

December 2011 and 2010 are set out below:

V.EERSRITHRAENE

(&

BREFNEBE_ZT——FR-_Z-ZF
TZA=+—BIEFEZMERIIWT

Salaries Employee  Retirement
and share-based benefits
other Discretionary compensation scheme
Fees benefits bonuses benefits contributions Total
AR 42
HeR XfiNEE  BHKEN
fe  HER BERAL WeRR  HEfR )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fign TR TR TR FET Fign
Name of Director EEnE
Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy BRESE 489 - - - - 489
Mr. Chan Sai Wai RitELE - 6,000 5,200 11,456 12 22,668
Mr. Ng Sai Kit RHAEE - 4,500 3,900 8,592 12 17,004
Mr. Ge Su BErA - 2,422 206 175 - 2,803
Mr. David John Cleveland Hodge David John Cleveland Hodge
(Note ) %4 (firta) 399 - - - - 399
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich Ralf Klaus Wunderlich %t 4 374 - - - - 374
Mr. Jerzy Czubak (Note b) Jerzy CzubakZE £ (FifzEb) 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BEEAE 750 - - - - 750
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Ellis BHRELE 726 - - - - 726
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric HEELE 724 - - - - 724
Total for 2011 “T—FEE 3,492 12,922 9,306 20,223 24 45,967




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 R P

10.DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1&%%&%&ﬁﬁké%ﬁ
=

1=

Salaries Retirement
and benefits
other Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
ek RIKIER
B  HMBEM  BBEAL AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET TET TET
Name of Director EEHF
Mr. Chan Chew Keak, Billy LREEE

(Note ¢) (P &EC) 493 - - - 493
Mr. Chan Sai Wai R R - 2,500 4,000 12 6,512
Mr. Ng Sai Kit RHARLEE - 2,000 3,000 12 5,012
Mr. Ge Su BHiE - 2,243 187 - 2,430
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis TERGE

(Note d) (P 3Ed) - 438 - 2 440
Mr. David John Cleveland David John Cleveland

Hodge Hodge%t 4 439 - - - 439
Mr. Ralf Klaus Wunderlich Ralf Klaus Wunderlich %t &

(Note e) (Pizte) 18 - - - 18
Mr. Jerzy Czubak Jerzy Czubakst &

(Note b) (PH7ED) 359 - - - 359
Mr. Tay Ah Kee, Keith BEEAE 757 - - - 757
Mr. AuYeung Tin Wah, Ellis  BUfSREEHL 4 732 - - - 732
Mr. Oh Choon Gan, Eric HEExRE 730 _ _ _ 730
Total for 2010 —T-TFER 3,528 7,181 7,187 26 17,922
Notes: P EE -

(@) Resigned on 2 December 2011

(b) Resigned on 14 December 2010 and re-appointed on 2 December

2011

(c) Re-designated as non-executive director on 20 April 2010

(d) Resigned on 1 March 2010

(e)  Appointed on 14 December 2010

(a)

(b)

RZT——F+=AZHET

KoT—TF+-A+EBBELR =T
—— - A AEEEE

RZT—ZFMA -+ AERTAIENT
g%

WoZ—ZF=A—AFE

RIZZE—EFF+_A+NBEZT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR &

10.DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year

include three (2010: three) directors whose emoluments are

reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of

the remaining two (2010: two) individuals are set out below:

10.ESRERTHAENS

(#&

FALRERZAERSHALTETA=S
(ZT—FF: =%) REF  KEZHE
RERFE EXFIRZ DA - Btgm% (=
T—TF : MH) AL zBesRsImT

2011 2010
—E——5F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH&TT
Basic salaries and other benefits ~ EARH & & EMIET 6,264 3,663
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 4,700 3,102
Employee share-based AR 2R E
compensation benefits B 187 87 -
Retirement benefits scheme RIKEFIFT S
contributions T 24 24
11,075 6,789
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeENFToIEHE :
Number of individuals
BAAZ
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 2,000,000 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HKS$3,000,000 2,500,00178 7T £ 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -

HK$5,000,001 to HKS$5,500,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000

5,000,001,8 JL £ 5,500,0007% 7T
8,000,001,%8 7T £8,500,00078% 7T

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the year. In addition,

no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors

or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

FRAAEBEEHEXRBRETAME 2
R o WS ARBYES NS TER
EEdmaHAL  ERTSIMAKREE
SONAR 2 BER) SRR 2 F 18 o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR

11.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 11.RREFRIGTHE

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are
calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of HK$1,000 per employee and vest fully

with employees when contributed into MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") are members of a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits.
The local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these
subsidiaries with respect to the central pension scheme is to

meet the required contributions under the scheme.

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSES

REBRBEESRHE LB EIEH B
BEABAAKREBR YA AT
Bl ([BEREE]) - AEBMRNRESEE
ZHADREEEF SR T E Z5%TH -
BHREESA ERAI0005T - fEH8THE
SEFEIERE - HARBRFBEEFMAE o

AEBNRPEARLME ([FE]) KL
ZHEBARZEE At A MEBTE R F
RBABFEIKE - ILEMB AR AR
BEAFHERTEZET BN LRFRE
REAEHKERBRRBNES - 7™
BUF A A EULE B ARMARA KR
HRKER ZRREHES - LEHBA
AR RE RS B2 E—BERRE
EIEH AT HR -

110z Moday enuuy Y ——F— ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘ﬁ

12.Fi8 BB

2011 2010
—E——fF —E—LTF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH&T

PRC corporate income tax Bl
- Current — BNER 193,109 145,067
— Over provision in prior year — P FERERE (55) (215)
Withholding tax (Note 28) TBHBIE (F5E28) 52,067 34,076
Other deferred tax (Note 28) HARERIE (fI5E28) (2,215) (2,296)
242,906 176,632

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the

Group has no assessable profit for the year.

HRAEFEREEEREY BERBT A
A BB BB RSB LA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B AR B

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC ("“New CIT
Law”), which became effective from 1 January 2008, the

standard corporate income tax rate is 25%.

On 26 December 2007, the State of Council of the PRC passed
n “Notice on the Implementation of Corporation Income Tax
Transition Preferential Treatment” (“Notice on Transition Period”)
Guofa (2007) No. 39 (“Circular 39") which sets out details of
how existing preferential income tax rates will be adjusted
to the 25% standard rate under the New CIT Law. According
to the Notice on Transition Period, certain PRC enterprises of
the Group with tax holiday not fully utilised will be allowed
to continue to receive benefits of the full exemption from a
reduction in income tax rate until expiry of the tax holiday,
after which, the 25% standard rate under the New CIT Law will

apply.

Circular 39 also states that the existing preferential income tax
rate of 18% in 2008 pertaining to certain subsidiaries will be
adjusted to the standard rate of 25% in 2012 progressively.

Pursuant to Notice of Preferential Corporate Income Tax for
Foreign Funded Enterprises in Central and Western Region (4

FaEb i (& B AN R A D E AT E B A @AY E D), Kunming
World Grand Colour Printing Co., Ltd. ("Kunming World Grand”)
is entitled to a reduced corporate income tax rate of 15% from
the years 2007 to 2011.

The relevant tax rates for the Group's PRC subsidiaries before
the tax holiday range from 15% to 25% (2010: 15% to 25%).

12.FEHRAx< (&)

H b1ty 75 2 FERBE MR 2 h iR AN S B
REMEBR ZRITREREM 2 RITE
Pl BEREFE

BRBEPECEMSHE (FEEMSH
EBEZEENF—A—HBER -
EEDEMESREH25% o

RZZEZEHF+ZAZ+8  PEEK
Primid (BN E i X FTS TR E B HIR
RRBAD) ([3BE BB A1) Bl3(2007)39
5% ([3BEK39]) - &R Efull AR IE T 3
FTSBUERRITEEME N EFAEZ25%
FREBER - RIFBEERN - AEEET
PR RS EE AR TR - B
BEXMBHACZ2EHREES HE
BHEBSERIE  REBERTCEMSEH
VE 2 25%IRLER K o

BHBIMATREETHBARBE 2 —F
TNERHIWBEMER LG E L FHE
EZTF 25T ERE o

Eﬁ(*ﬁ%ﬂ@%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
HEENEN) ERERXHERD
(BRER]) 5#a :%%ti?ﬁ;:;ﬁ—
—FEEEELEMSHREISY

AEBFTREMNBATREEREERAZ
BREARENF15%%225% (Z T —FF :
15%2Z25%) °
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12.INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 12.Fr8HiExX (&)

Further under the New CIT Law, from 1 January 2008, non-
resident enterprises without an establishment or place of
business in the PRC or which have an establishment or place
of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is not
effectively connected with the establishment or a place of
business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax at the
rate of 10% (unless reduced by treaty) on various types of
passive income such as dividend derived from sources within
the PRC. As the entire Group's foreign-invested enterprises
are directly or indirectly wholly or partial owned by a Hong
Kong incorporated subsidiary, a rate of 5% is applicable to the
calculation of this withholding tax on dividend according to
Comprehensive Arrangement for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation on Income and Prevention of Fiscal Evasion between
PRC and Hong Kong, and Guoshihan (2009) No.81.

According to the notice Cai Shui (2008) No.1 released by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation,
distributions of the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-
invested enterprise to a foreign investor in 2008 or after
are exempt from withholding tax. Accordingly, the retained
profits at 31 December 2007 in the Group’s foreign-invested
enterprises’ books and accounts will not be subject to

withholding tax on dividend at 5% on future distribution.

BEAN - RIBERAEHE =T FN
F-A—BiE EPBERARRKRIERE -
BT REEET BB ARIIEE - HATE
REZHBRABEEFRBIRAMR
B SRRAERBREZEEREE B
AW B A (AR BEIR A B
B 1210% (BRIFRBUIHERR) BATE
HRE - ARNAEEMBIEREDRET
H—EEBFMRZI B AR EZLE
E2ENAOEE - HURE (R IEE
BN A S B0 o B E R AN L R AR
B2 B R BB 3(2009)815% - BEAR S &
B RN BER ZHER5%

RIEVERBRERREEBDEM 2B
(2008)15%3AAN - INEREGER-ZZTZTN
FRZERNRZEED IR -_ZZ/\FHI
ZARE EFVERR R AMTEIORIE - Et
NERE Z IR E R 2 IR &I E B3
MoZEZLFE+ A=+ B 2REHEF
BATEAR R IR AR B 4R 5%, TBIIFLIA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 AR P

144 12.INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 12.Fi8%iEx (&)
-
% A reconciliation between the income tax expenses and the FrEfF AT B ADEN TR ERR R 25
i
§ product of profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax ZERIOR ¢
B rate is as follows:
>
4
>
=
) 2011 2010
g s —F-F
2
a HK$’000 HK$'000
5 FET FAT
D
Qo
Iﬁ Profit before tax 754 A A 824,356 777,385
pt
|
X
& Tax at applicable tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) %3 FA & R 25%
= (ZZ—TF : 25%) 206,089 194,346
=1
2 Tax effect of share of profit of associates  JE{GHE 2 A A&
z ZRBEEE (15,197) (21,355)
% Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMMA 2 RIEZE (4,612) (39,603)
o
= Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DAY 2 R 2 120,125 101,225
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary RERGRIEEHE
differences BB 4,302 (1,085)
Tax effect of unused tax loss not recognised R A B) A TR B ES 18
BB E 8,021 8,078
Tax effect of tax concession and tax refund ~ FRIB TR & FGR O]
2R (131,324) (99,394)
Over provision in prior year FFERERR (55) (215)
Withholding tax TEHIA 52,067 34,076
Effect of different tax rates of EEMEEERSE
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction 2 Bt /&2 & Fri#
TRAM Rz & 3,490 559

Income tax expenses FrEHi X 242,906 176,632




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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13.EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic earnings per share of HK59.3 cents (2010: HK60.2
cents) is calculated based on the Group's profit
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year of
approximately HK$547,823,000 (2010: HK$570,914,000) and
the weighted average number of shares of approximately
923,147,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year (2010:
948,740,000 shares).

No diluted earnings per share are presented as the
Company did not have any potentially dilutive ordinary

shares during the two years ended 31 December 2011.

Underlying basic earnings per share of HK61.7 cents
(2010: HK55.0 cents) is calculated based on the Group's
underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year of approximately HK$569,427,000 (2010:
HK$521,495,000) and the weighted average number of
shares of approximately 923,147,000 ordinary shares in
issue during year (2010: 948,740,000 shares).

Underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company

is calculated as follows:

13.8REF

(a)

BRERABAZEW(ZE—F
F 0 60.2781) NERFEZARQR
BB A FEAG 7 & B 5 7 £9547,823,000
B (Z F — & F:570914,000%
L) RERNBEITEBR 2 INETFY
[i% 1 #7923,147,0000% (ZF — T F :
948,740,0008% ) 51 & -

ERAREIRNEBE-ZT——F+=A8
=+—BIEMFRWEEAEEEE
L@ M E2YEREERT -

EREBERBENOZEW(ZE
—ZTF:55081M) DRAFER
NAEEB A FEAL 7 & B8 R R A
#9569,427,000% T (= & — T F -
521,495,000/ ) R FERNB #EHITER
% 2 0 # S 39 B B 49923,147,000/%

Z T T4 1 948,740,0000%) FHE o

RRRHE AEMLAB ST E N
T

2011 2010
=2——F —ZT-Z
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T
Profit attributable to owners of RATHEE ANEAE
the Company gl 547,823 570,914
Add: Employee share-based s ARMZHMES
compensation benefits B <& 12 A1 21,604 -
Less: Non-operating items R IEREIE R = (49,419)
Underlying profit attributable to RATHER ANEE
owners of the Company ElEzbengl 569,427 521,495
Underlying basic earnings per share %R E A2 F
(HK cents) GEALD 61.7 55.0
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14.DIVIDENDS

14.[R B
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The dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2011
were approximately HK$105,239,000 being final dividend
of HK11.4 cents per share for year 2010 and approximately
HK$119,086,000 being interim dividend of HK12.9 cents per
share for year 2011. The dividends paid during the year ended
31 December 2010 were approximately HK$145,857,000
being final dividend of HK15.8 cents per share for year 2009
and approximately HK$103,392,000 being interim dividend of
HK11.2 cents per share for year 2010. A final dividend of HK10.8
cents per share in respect of 2011, amounted to approximately
HK$99,700,000 is proposed by the board of directors (the “Board”)
subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. The proposed final dividends are not

recognised as liabilities at 31 December 2011.

BHE-_Z——F+-_A=+—HBILEER
XA 2 B B B 49105,239,000%8 T (BN =&
—EFZRBEREBERN4EN) RY
119,086,000/ 7t (Bl —ZF — —4F 2 Fp HAAX
BRERNIEBN) HE_Z—TF+
AT —HALEFERAINZRE AL
145,857,000/ 7 (Bl —Z T 1 4F 2 KR HAAK
B RERI58E M) & %9103,392,000% 7T
(== —ZF2HHREAERI1.2E
i) -EF2g ([EFg]) ERRE_T—
—FEREBREFRI08EI - BRESHE
#]/599,700,0005%8 7T + M ZB 5 AR R P FE B
BERBFRG EHE o BIRFAR B E
WRAER-_T——F+=-A=+—B2&

ﬁ °
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Interim dividend paid of HK12.9 cents EIREFHRESRI29

(2010: HK11.2 cents) per share Bl (Z2—FF
11.2740) 119,086 103,392

Proposed final dividend of HK10.8 cents /R R HAM B &A% 10.8

(2010: HK11.4 cents) per share B (ZT—FF
11.47840) 99,700 105,239

218,786

208,631
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15.0THER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 15. Hh = E ks
Components of other comprehensive income for the year: AREEHMEEIERARKED -
2011 2010
—E——F —T—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FET FAET
Exchange gain on HE SN T
translating foreign i BRI &
operations 178,030 164,845
Reversal of exchange gain  {H & a[{HiHE
from foreign currency TREERE
translation reserve HNEE H I
account to profit or I P % [0] [E 3,
loss on the disposal of W B
available-for-sale
financial assets - (133,514)
Cash flow hedges: REmE I -
Gain arising during FRESE
the year pal & = 498
Add: Reclassification o EE A
adjustments for il
profits included in LB
profit or loss DI - - 3,821 4319
Other comprehensive REFEMEE
income for the year Wz 178,030 35,650
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR &

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16.¥1% - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant and Office Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE BER BAE
BF  NEEE - #fE BE  ERIE @3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAL AL AL TAL AL AL AL
Cost A
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-T5-A-A 97,309 43,595 856,602 28397 20855 20023 1,066,781
Additions RE 54 3,459 34928 1867 3622 8870 52800
Transfer i - 3846 890 3 - (5,058) -
Disposals/iwrite off HE /i - (328) (3928) (432) (2516) - (7,200
Exchange differences EREE 3,685 2,100 33,244 1675 834 812 42350
At 31 December 2010 RIE-FE+-A=+-H 101048 5267 921,736 31829 20,795 24,647 1,154,727
Additions RE - 1443 20324 2,088 4493 8415 3,763
Transfer 4 2,046 (44) 24,803 1981 - (28,786) -
Disposals/iwrite off HE /i - (37536) (123238) (11,091) (2881) - (174746)
Exchange differences EXER 4397 1574 37,99 1,240 93 565 46,738
At 31 Decerber 2011 RIE—F+ZA=+-B 10749 18,109 881,624 26047 25370 4841 1,063.482
Accumulated depreciation ~ BFHTER
and impairment HE
At T January 2010 RZE-T5-A-A 10,069 8,066 264812 15399 10,241 - 308,587
Charge for the year TEEME 5,303 4246 76073 3675 3236 - 92533
Disposals/write off HE /Hik - (295) (426) (275) (1810) - (2,806)
Impairment loss HEEE - 29715 - - - - 29715
Exchange differences ELES 527 1407 11,89 117 468 - 15469
At 31 December 2010 R-B-BE+-A=1-8 15899 43139 352,354 19971 12,135 - 443498
Charge for the year TEEME 5,567 3,046 68,833 3128 3538 - 8,112
Disposals/write off HE /B - (37877) (56,677) (8842) (2,381) - (105,777)
Exchange differences ELES 805 1,102 15449 759 515 - 18630
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%+-A=1-H 0271 9410 379,959 15016 13,807 - 440463
Carrying amount REE
At 31 Decerber 2011 R-F-——F+-f=+-H 85,220 8699 501,665 11,031 11,563 4841 623019
At 31 December 2010 R-E-EE+-A=1-H 85,149 9,533 569,382 11,858 10,660 24,647 711,229
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BA RS AR &

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group's buildings are situated in the PRC.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of

its leasehold improvements in 2010. The reviews led to the

recognition of an impairment loss of HK$29,715,000 that has

been recognised in profit or loss.

17.PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

16.413% - MERRME (&) |

AEBZBFHURPHE -
AEER_FT-TFHHREMEREEZA

WEemEETER - ZBHBRERRE
E51829,715,0008 70 © RERIBRIRNER -

17.F8HE T FIE
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2011 2010

—E——fF —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT F&TT

At 1 January n—A—H 23,264 23,088
Amortisation of prepaid land lease AR E - HhFIE

payments 2 (712) (678)

Exchange differences PEH Z%E 987 854

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 23,539 23,264

Current portion RENEL (727) (697)

Non-current portion EMENEL 22,812 22,567

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments

for land use rights in the PRC under medium term leases.

AEEZENEE T FIRERTHEE
FBEZPBE LR R -
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| 150 18.GOODWILL 18.75 52
o
i\j HK$'000
at FHT
S
o)
’5’ At 1 January 2010 W-Z—TF—A—H 2,445,025
g Exchange differences PEH =% 93,204
L%
= At 31 December 2010 R-ZE-ZF+-_A=+—H 2,538,229
g Adjustment for contingent consideration FAANREFE (20,147)
— Exchange differences FEH Z% 109,340
®
jﬂ At 31 December 2011 RZE——F+=-A=+—H 2,627,422
2
§ Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at EKESFRESIREe RN WERSECD
% acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are FEHE S ENZEREANRBESELE
§ expected to benefit from that business combination. Before M ([IREELEENMN]) - EHERREEIE
= recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of B PHEREESBRLOT :
S goodwill had been allocated as follows:
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHERT FAET
Printing of cigarette packages 5 R 2,626,006 2,536,872
Manufacturing of transfer paper and BREREHE
laser film BE 1,416 1,357
2,627,422 2,538,229
Following the integration of business, a reassessment of R-Z——% BReELBUNCRERA
CGUs was performed during the year of 2011. Comparative HEEMHE EREMNE RS —EET

information has been adjusted on a consistent basis. LAZRE -
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BA RS AR &

18.GOODWILL (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from
fair value less cost to sell. The key assumptions for the fair
value less cost to sell determination are those regarding the
discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and
turnover during the period. The Group estimates discount rates
using post tax rates that reflect current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.
Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past

practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the Directors for the next
five years with the residual period using the growth rate of 5%
(2010: 5%)

The rates used to discount the forecast cash flows are as

follows:

18.58& (&)

ReELBUNAIKE S B IRAFER
HERAMETE - R FEREERNEE
ZEBEEIDERTRE  BREXRHRA
ZEEENRREXE - AEERARBR
BEmsEENEHEERRSELEN
2B ER B SRR TR R AT
BE - BHEENXREXBURBEEE
REERTSRRETE -

AEERE2REREEAREALES
BEHARAFZSTHTRESE - M
BT HRARBE R RSy (ZE—FF :
5%) HH -

REFRBARESRE ZLLEMT ¢

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-F
Printing of cigarette packages BT R 9.47% 10.2%
Manufacturing of transfer paper and ERRA L Rt
laser film fR &L iE 9.47% 10.2%
19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19.REERNT 2
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Unlisted investments in the PRC: RERZIELTRE -
Share of net assets JEMhEEFE 145,763 117,615
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BA RS AR &

ALY 19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19.ABE AT 2w (&2

% Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2011 are as NZE——F+_fF=+—H  ~EEH

= follows: BARZHEWT

g

;;éll Percentage

= Place of Particulars of of interest

g incorporation/  registered held/profit

Lg Name operation capital sharing Principal activities

5 Fris

S MR, il i
7“7 =1 =310 HEMEARFE Bk FEEYR

-FlFf Nanjing Sanlong Packing PRC US$2,100,000 48%/48% Printing of cigarette

Q Co., Ltd. packages

2 MRZEEEERAR Gl 2,100,000 7 e ]

2

§ Qingdao AMVIG Shuncheng PRC RMB33,000,000 51%/51% Manufacturing of transfer

§ Packaging Co.,, Ltd. paper and laser film
— 1 ("Shuncheng”)

SERMERBEERRAA aa AREE BB LR RS
(I 5 BB ) 33,000,0007T

Although the Group owned more than 50% in Shuncheng,
Shuncheng is treated as an associate because the Group is
only able to exercise significant influence on the financial and

operating policies on Shuncheng.

BEARERS B IR E B ES50%HE
7 EARAEEERNEBIEBMIE K
LERRBAEEATEN  BEBIRHD
BRI E QR
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19.RBE QT 2B (&)
AEMBE AR 2B ERBELT

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

associates is set out below:

Assets  Liabilities Equity Revenue Profit
BE & i ez gl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET TER TER TET

2011 —B——F
100 percent BAZ—H 597,165 (301,181) 295,984 515,468 121,414
Group's effective interest REEZERER 294,452 (148,689) 145,763 248,133 60,788

2010 —E-FF
100 percent BHAZ—H 664,169 (417,605) 246,564 767,755 160,820
Group's effective interest REEZBE #Ex 258,237 (140,622) 117,615 333,876 85,420

LLOZ Moday |enuuy M ——&— ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘%

20.JEIRE R

MRZBBLFRA+=H  FRFRH—
AR B Ry RREpETE ([RHE1)) - B\t - K
RAAIRBAR R B EFE G HIET 2 R SR
HRArEEETEER ((BEEE]) BT

20.LOAN RECEIVABLES

On 13 June 2007, the Company adopted an employees’
share award scheme (the “Scheme”) under which shares
(the "Awarded Shares”) of the Company may be awarded to

certain employees of the Group (the “Selected Employees”)

in accordance with the terms and conditions imposed by the
Board of the Company. The Scheme is valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing on 13 June 2007. Pursuant to
the rules of the Scheme, an administrator has been appointed
to administer the Scheme and hold the Awarded Shares. On or
after the vesting date, the Selected Employees shall be entitled
to sell in whole or in part of his/her Awarded Shares through
the administrator and receive the gain on the disposal of his/
her Awarded Shares, being the excess of sales proceeds over
the acquisition costs of the Awarded Shares purchased by the
Company, together with the related income attributable to the

Awarded Shares disposed.

Bty (TEE@AID ) - sTEIE —FTEF X
AT=ARBERLREN  SB+EF -R
BETERA BEEACEZEEEAIR
FERBERD - REBAMKZE B2
BREFEBEEANELZ R KR
Befn - SUCER I E R B 2 s o BD
HEMSHRIEBB AR REERBRNZ
BEXRAZEER  ERMHERBRNE
B2 FEREA -
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20.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 BINER (2)
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In June 2008, the Company made clarifications with the
Selected Employees on certain terms and operation

mechanism of the Scheme. In summary:

(@) Neither the Company, the administrator nor the Selected
Employees shall have any voting rights to the Company's

shares purchased by the administrator to the Scheme.

(b) All the beneficial interests and risks of the shares
purchased under the Scheme are designated to the
Selected Employees upon the purchase of the Company’s

shares.

(©) The funds made available by the Company to the
administrator (the “Fund”) for purchases of Company’s
shares in accordance with the Scheme are advances made

by the Company to the Selected Employees.

After the aforementioned clarifications, the Company
considered that the Fund made by the Company to assist
the Selected Employees to purchase the Awarded Shares
should be accounted for as loan receivables from the Selected
Employees. The loan receivables will be repaid when the
Awarded Shares are disposed of. Any gain or loss on disposal
of the Awarded Shares shall be accounted to or borne by the

Selected Employees.

21.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

ASSETS

Available-for-sales financial assets represent a club membership
in the PRC.

As no quoted market prices in an active market are available,
the available-for-sale financial assets are carried at cost less any

identified impairment.

21

RZFZNFARA ARFREEERE
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22.INVENTORIES 22.7E
2011 2010
—B2——F —F-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T
Raw materials RAEL 155,435 138,335
Work in progress TR 34,554 69,442
Finished goods =0y 226,112 152,207
416,101 359,984
Because of the change in the market conditions of the HRAFEASEEMOMISEREES
Group's products during the year, there was an increase in b FEMATERFMEIGM - Bt - K|
the net realisable value of inventories. As a result, allowance TFERTFEMELOBEL,482,000% 7T
made in prior years against the inventories of approximately (ZZ—F5F : 5694,000/87T) #HHEE -
HK$ 1,482,000 (2010: HK$5,694,000) was reversed.
=+
23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.E 5 R HAERFIR
The general credit terms of the Group granted to its trade KEBEKRTHEHESGEP ZIRIRBA—BN T
customers range from one month to three months. The Group —ZE={8A8 - "EBBHFHEREIEHIR
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. BEEWKHIE ahEEETHEE R
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the senior ek o B HREIGIE (IREE BB Rk
management. An aging analysis of trade receivables, based on B ZIRE ST -
the invoice date, net of allowances, is as follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAIT
Current to 30 days BNEf=30H 250,094 249,931
31 to 90 days 31290H 126,209 191,779
Over 90 days HiEo0H 17,639 25,602
Trade receivables H 5 EYGRIE 393,942 467,312
Bills receivables S 55,772 63,282
Other receivables - an associate oAt FE U R IE —
il =N 55,541 153,357
Other receivables - others E At FECGRIE — EAtb 63,677 97,739

568,932 781,690
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156 23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B RAEMBEWRIE (&)
g (continued)
1
§ An analysis of allowance for estimated irrecoverable trade (HET R A] Y [E & 5 e WG IE 2 B E o AT an
E“g‘:‘ receivables is as follows: N
a
>
= ,
= HK$'000
g FAT
=
g
2 At 1 January 2010 W-—Z—2%—A—R 391
Qo

Write off EE (280)
lhi Reversal for the year FERE (10)
t
I Exchange differences MEH Z5 47
_FH
_m
% At 31 December 2010 WZE-—ZTF+_F=+—H 148
g Reversal for the year FERE (115)
® Exchange differences MEH Z5 1
o
5
- At 31 December 2011 RZE——F+=ZA=+—H 34

As of 31 December 2011, trade receivables of approximately
HK$17,639,000 (2010: HK$25,602,000) were past due but not
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers
for whom there is no recent history of default. An aging

analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

RZZE——F+-_A=+—H" &
17,639,000% 7T (=& — Z 4 1 25,602,000
BIT) 2B S EYGIED BEERREE -
ZERBRE TROWEE RSB
BFBHE - 2S5 E5EUGRIE ZIRE ST
I

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Up to 6 months =% N8 A 4,396 10,605
Over 6 months HimsSE A 13,243 14,997

17,639 25,602
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24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

AND CASH BALANCES

Bank deposits of approximately HK$1,049,763,000 (2010:
HK$371,638,000) carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.1%
to 4.5% (2010: 0.2% to 2.3%) thus exposing the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. Bank deposits of approximately
HK$665,414,000 (2010: HK$641,343,000) carry floating interest
rates thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group's pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group (Note 35).

Included in the pledged bank deposits and bank and cash
balances is an amount of approximately HK$1,126,968,000 as
at 31 December 2011 (2010: HK$711,955,000) denominated
in RMB and kept in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

25.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

An aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

invoices, is as follows:

24,

25.

EHEARTERRRBITRA

#91,049,763,000% T (= & — T F:
371,638,000 7T) 2 177 ;IR T F0.1%
F45% (ZF—FF 1 02% & 23%) ZH
EFEFE  MASEEE QN FERNE
[B B o #9665414,0008 7T (Z T —Z4F -
641,343,000/ 7T) 2 $R1TE RIRF B F) R
PR MASEEHRSRAERERR - &
EEEEBBTERACEBETFRITZ
TR MEAR FASERTEE 2K
(FH3E35) »

TIABEBRITHERARBRITRIRSEH 2
RERE-—BRZZT——F+ZA=+
— H #1,126,968,000/8 7T (Z T — & F -
711,955,000 7T) 2 AR KIE - BZN
BEEENRFE - ARBHIRAINEEZHR
B HNE B 1 58 B R AETE - S IE RASEE R
REFTIRR -

EZ REMEARIER

BSREMHE GREEEH) ZIRE DT
FURNE

2011 2010
—EB——F —F—F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FERT T

Current to 30 days BNEf=30H 207,577 196,909

31 to 90 days 31290H 179,657 201,367

Over 90 days #B3E90H 11,821 85,692

Trade payables B RIE 399,055 483,968

Bills payables — secured ENRIE — BHEH = 25,527
Current portion of other long-term EAth R AAFE (I3 2

payables (Note 27) TEE S (MFE27) 235,082 235,082

Other payables H b B 5RIE 278,760 301,823

912,897 1,046,400
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26.BANK BORROWINGS

26.8R1TER

2011 2010
—E——5F —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FET
Bank loans — unsecured IRITER — B|IEH 986,590 578,585
The borrowings are repayable as follows: &5k ZIEAB 0~
On demand or within one year REKRIN—FR 217,330 118
In the second year B4 769,260 133,328
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFERF
(PIEERMT) - 445,139
986,590 578,585
Less: Amount due for settlement B T =@ A AEIEE
within 12 months (shown under EBIE (RRe
current liabilities) BEHETIITR) (217,330) (118)
Amount due for settlement after + @A %&EIHEE
12 months B 769,260 578,467

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

REBERUTINESHEZREAED
T

HKS RMB Total
BT AR#E 45T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FiET
2011 —E——F
Bank loans RITER 986,590 - 986,590
2010 —E-EF
Bank loans IRITER 578,467 118 578,585
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26.BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 26.8R1TER (&)

The range of effective interest rates at 31 December was as

RtTZA=1T—BZERMNEHBENT :

follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Bank loans IRITER 3.12% to 3.32% 3.78% t0 5.10%

All of bank borrowings are arranged at floating rates thus

exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

27.0THER LONG-TERM PAYABLES

The balance represented the deferred consideration payable
in connection with the acquisition of additional interest in
Famous Plus discounted at the effective interest of 1.6%
computed at initial recognition. The balance is interest free,
unsecured and repayable by instalments up till 31 December
2012.

FRBRITIER TV IRF B REHE - HAK
EEHIRE RN EE R o

27. Ht REFFEE T FRIE

ERE R B IMER B TRER
B (AT HERE BIR A K1 6% ) - 4
BARE  BERLAOHEEEE_F
——F+ZA=t+—B-
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28.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28 EEBIHEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRABRNEEMERZIEZRELEHIESR
by the Group. & o
Revaluation
of property,
plant and Withholding
equipment tax Total
EXntyEN
BERZE BHIHIE et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2010 RZF-FF—F—H 19,867 45,441 65,308
Payment (NES - (37,568) (37,568)
(Credit)/charge to profitor loss (5t AB25), BB
Mk (2,296) 34,076 31,780
Exchange differences EHER 689 1,624 2313
At 31 December 2010 RZE—TF
+=ZRA=+—H 18,260 43,573 61,833
Payment (NES - (46,146) (46,146)
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss (5t AB2#5), B8
kR 2,215) 52,067 49,852
Exchange differences MEHERE 739 2,005 2,744
At 31 December 2011 R-E——14F
+-R=+—-H 16,784 51,499 68,283




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A AR B o

29.SHARE CAPITAL 29. I® A

Number of Shares Amount
RO E T
‘000 HKS$'000
FAR FET
Authorised: JEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each GREBEOIBITZE
At 31 December 2010 and 2011 RZ-ZTFER-FT—F
+=ZA=+—8 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREBEBITLE
At 31 December 2010 and 2011 RIE—EFR-_T——F
+=—A=+—8 923,147 9,231

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new

debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, share
premium, minority interests, retained earnings and other

reserves) other than debit amounts recognised in equity.

AEEERES CARARERASEES
BSEREERRLE 2 WEBENL
Bt Pl E B L IR B

AEBBFRBIZLIIRERESE - K
SERFRESNEERAEEE AR
FREREEARBREHAE - RER
HABEARE  AREAERERKR
IR Z RS - BITHA - BBEARD - BE
#iE - BERAEEKLEEEEIRE
% o

AEERBEEHRREHEEA L RERE
A BRALLERTIAEH FERAKRHEE
REtHE - BHFR/BIETRRE LA
EEYE - RRBRELABREREMBE
o (WA - BEE - DBBCREE
REBNEEMEE)  EREERERZ
HBR SRR o

110z Moday enuuy Y ——F— ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘9




N
(e
N

‘ LLOZ Moday [enuuy Y — —& = ‘ panwi sBUIP|OH DIAWY [£ 7 ¥ B 31 S 36 ‘

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S % AR P

29.SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29. B8 AN (42)
During 2011, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged MNZE——F  AEBFEEE-_TT
since 2007, was to maintain a capital structure with a lowest F—5 - TR — (& AN INEE 1k AN R
weighted average cost of capital. The debt-to-adjusted capital )‘EA%{EE7}<$Z§ZM*% o RZE——F+
at 31 December 2011 and at 31 December 2010 were (13.8%) —“A=t+—RBE-_ZE—ZFTFE+-_F=+—
and (8.8%), respectively. Hzf& ﬁﬁiﬁi#&ﬂ”é{$ttf" | (13.8%)
12(8.8%) ©
2011 2010
—E——fF —=—=

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FA&T
Total borrowings AR 986,590 578,585
Less: cash and cash equivalents W RERIREEEY (1,715,341) (997,278)
Net debt EVEIEE] (728,751) (418,693)
Total equity B 4,545,087 4,018,115

Add: debit amounts recognised N R TR 2 R
in equity SEE 731,043 731,043
Adjusted capital LB 5,276,130 4,749,158
Debt-to-adjusted capital ERSEL AR BB AN by R (13.8%) (8.8%)
The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for SMNERIEINZ ME— B & BRBAKERN 2
the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it DR E & D AES% » A M H
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Rz Emh o AEE S E M RER
Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly on NBPETRBRIFARFREZERM
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and ERRE  BRBEERASENERE
it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit FREEFBEBTUREZRTE - R =T
throughout the year. As at 31 December 2011, 52.1% (2010: ——HF+ZA=1t—8 521% (=F—%F

52.1%) of the shares were in public hands. F:521%) RIDBARALHEEA -
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30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

31

THE COMPANY

30.4 2 A 2 B AR R R 3k

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income and consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

2011 2010
—E——F —T-F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FET

Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 281 431
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIRE 1 1
Loan receivables FEUE R 301,719 308,536
Due from subsidiaries JRE LB B8 1 )R8 3,697,829 2,972,366
Other receivables Ho o e W sk IE 65 80,395
Bank and cash balances RITRIB e 78,765 155,333
Other current assets HEMRBEE 14,595 13,994
Bank borrowings RITEE (986,590) (578,467)
Other current liabilities HiRehaE (10,109) (9,818)
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,096,556 2,942,771
Share capital &N 9,231 9,231
Reserves s 3,087,325 2,933,540
TOTAL EQUITY R 3,096,556 2,942,771

.RESERVES 31.7% 4
(a) GROUP @) ~%E

AEBZFESENBRESHNER

AEEEEERN

HRBBE -
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164 31.RESERVES (continued) 31.5%4% (&)
(b) COMPANY (b) ZARAQF]
Employee
share-based
Share compensation Other Retained
premium reserve reserves profits Total
URHG %8
RHEE EEMEEA HitfkeE REER H
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
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At 1 January 2010 RZE-F5—-A-H 3,881,877 - (86,705) 147952 3,943,124
Total comprehensive income TEERENE
for the year B - - 428,546 207,845 636,391
Dividend paid for 2009 (Note 14) YR-EENERS
(WIM) - - - (145,857) (145,857)
Dividend paid for 2010 (Note 14) YH-E-ZERE
( TEM) - - - (103,392) (103,392)
Share buy back e (1,396,726) - - - (1,396,726)
Changes in equity for the year AEERZZD (1,396,726) - 428546 (41404 (1,009,584)
At 31 December 2010 RZE-TF
+-A=+-H 2,485,151 - 341,841 106,548 2,933,540
Total comprehensive income AEE2AKS
for the year Pk - - 124,774 231732 356,506
Dividend paid for 2010 (Note 14) YNZE-TERE
(HisE14) - - - (105239) (105,239)
Dividend paid for 2011 (Note 14) ~ XN-Z——EkE
(FizE14) - - - (119,086) (119,086)
Employee share-based compensation BB % (I E B E&
benefits il - 21,604 - - 21,604
Changes in equity for the year AEEERED - 21,604 124774 7407 153,785
At 31 December 2011 RZB—F

+-A=1+-H 2,485,151 21,604 466,615 113,955 3,087,325
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31.RESERVES (continued)
(c) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group comprises (a)
the amount arose as a result of the reorganisation
implemented and represented the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation, over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefore;
and (b) the excess of the fair value of consideration
payable for the acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary over the decrease in the carrying value of

the non-controlling interests.

(iii) Employee share-based compensation

reserve

The employee share-based compensation reserve
represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for employee share-based compensation benefits in

Note 3(k) to the financial statements.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in Note 3(d) (iii)

to the financial statements.

31 ﬁﬁ (,,‘5

(c) f7
(i)

(if)

(iii

(iv) FNE

i

ZHBRBW
HX@J mﬁﬁ%

REMERERRE - ARAR
maEERcESAHRDIRT AR
AR HRBEEESKRER
W& ARBIAFENEEER
AREBBEPEIMZET -

5 Bl 18

AEE R E 2 EET
ElAMELENFARNEREE
AP BB R R ERA 2 HE
BEAABE M ETZ
BRAEEZ 25 - Rb)ENHK
BIBARZRIIMESERERT
(BB 38 3 F 122 1) 1 1 2 e T AL
ZER -

AR XS 80 e BB &

&

B 2SR B2 REER
1 5L B 75 $R R M FE3( PA B 19 X
NevREMERAT AN G
BERER  BETAKEEERE
BHARTTEBRE 2 B HGE
HEZATE-

55 B

SNE R EBREMAREIMND
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31.RESERVES (continued)

(c) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES (continued)
(v) Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the Group's
share of associate’s post-acquisition movements
in revaluation reserve and is dealt in accordance
with accounting policy in Note 3(c) to the financial

statements.

(vi) Statutory reserves

The statutory reserves, which are non-distributable,
are appropriated from the profit after taxation of the
Group's PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws

and regulations in the PRC.

32.EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED

COMPENSATION BENEFITS
EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants include the full-time and part-
time employees, directors, substantial shareholders of each
member, associates of directors or substantial shareholders
and trustees of any trust pre-approved by the Board of the
Company and the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 10 March 2004 and, unless otherwise cancelled or

amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The options will only be vested to the grantees over a period
of four years (i.e. one-fourth on or after 29 July 2012, one-
fourth on or after 29 July 2013, one-fourth on or after 29 July
2014 and one-fourth on or after 29 July 2015) upon fulfillment
of certain annual key performance indicators set and/or to be

set by the Board.

Options are lapsed if the employees leave the Group.

31.7#% (&)

() FEZMHEEREWN (&)
(v) EffhRHEE
EffEREARERIEHE AR
Wik EhHEEEZS - WIRH
BMEMEQOME &t KR
g o

(vi) JATE ek
FASIRZEEREINAES
2 B B 2 AR i h B RO
B RERABIRBOR TR o

32. R X ESMEEF

LURRE 45 E AV B IR g AT &

ARBET-RBRETS ([FHE)) - 5
ERHAEEEBRUELERZ A ER
SEEREHBL KD - ER2EER
RBEXREBRARZEZRERBES BF
TERR EFZBBARTIEERER
REARARBEMBERAR ZEEG LA
ZIEENEFEA - FAEER_TTNF=
ATBER - BRIFERTHHIIER - TR
BREE REZARLI0F -

BREEANDFAMR (D2 —R=
E-_FLA-TAHARZRITE @D
2R IE-=FL AT ABRZET
£ -Oa7—RZT—NF+A=+NH
KZBITEA RS 2 —R=F—hF L
AZTNABRZETHE) BTERES
SERER /I RELETFEEEE
BIEIRZ IR A ©

HESEAKERER EABRESSXK
R e
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32.EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED RURGXANEEMEER
COMPENSATION BENEFITS (continued) (%)
EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME AR LS WE IR ESTE (&)
(continued)
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as FRBMKRITEZEREFBOT
follows:

Number of  Weighted average

LL0z Woday [enuuy Mtz — —F = ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘3

share options exercise price
BRERE IEFEIGTEE
HKS
BT
Granted during the year and at RERRFEREL
the end of the year 90,000,000 4.72
Exercisable at the end of the year RERA FIT(E Nil#& N/AZ 3 A
The options outstanding at the end of the reporting period PR B A SRR i SR 1T 2 BB AR 2
have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 9.58 BFHEFIBREDFERISSTF  THER
years and the exercise price is HK$4.72. The estimated fair 47287 c BEREBRE 2 X FERF R
values of the options granted are HK$118,894,500. 118,894,500/8 7T °
These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes ZERFETERRA D —EF ARG
Model. The inputs into the model are as follows: H o Bt EXFIFTARNIBENT ¢

Grant date 28 July 2011
R BH —2——FtA=+N\H
Option value - HK$ BENREEE — BT 1.3139 - 1.3305
Weighted average share price — HK$ INEFIHARE — BT 4.72
Weighted average exercise price — HKS  INEFH1TEE — BT 4.72
Expected volatility T8 A 08 46.19% — 47.92%
Expected life T HA 4 B 5.5~ 7.0 years
Risk free rate 42 [ s ) 2R 1.31% - 1.74%

Expected dividend yield TE AR B = 4.79%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR Y &

32.EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED
COMPENSATION BENEFITS (continued)

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous year
before the date of grant. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on the Group's best estimate, for the

effects of early exercise behaviour of the option holders.

33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) PURCHASE OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
acquired 45% interests in a 55% subsidiary from a non-
controlling shareholder at a cash consideration of
RMB670,000,000. The effect of the acquisition on the

equity attributable to the owners of the Company is as

32.?1%@321#5’91&%%%%%']

DIREEENIBRERT S (&)

TEHUR R DR BT E AR RREN R L B
AR FE 2B KIEETE - ZIER
ERzEAFHMERBARE 2 KEM
it BBBER A AR RITERRERTE
XV EF AR

BGAERERERMT

() WEBSFEZHIMER

BE-T-TF+-A=1T—HL
FE AERNASREBEARE
670,000,0007T [1] — 44 FE 45 il 14 A% B2 U
R —RHEAsSw R 2B RRZ
5% o BRAWEHARATHEAA

follows: FEERERZZENT
HK$’000
FHET
Share of net assets in the subsidiary acquired 2 {5 FTUe BB B A 7] v B &EF 5 15,119
Fair value of consideration REBEZAFE (752,222)
Difference recognised directly in equity R EEERARE =5 (737,103)
Net cash outflow arising in purchase and WHEEARSREL FEREMKRESS -
movement in consideration payable:
Consideration RE 770,324
Consideration paid in 2010 RZZE-—ZFZ2EMNRE (300,160)
Consideration payable as R-ZE—ZF+_-_A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2010 JERHRME 470,164
Consideration paid in 2011 RZE——FZENRE (235,082)
Consideration payable as RZZ—F+-_A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2011 JERTR(E 235,082
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33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, dividend
of approximately HK$29,787,000 (2010: approximately
HK$4,084,000) was declared to non-controlling interests of
which no amount (2010: approximately HK$4,084,000) was
not paid as at 31 December 2011.

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the

Group had the following material related party transactions

during the year:

BaEHRERERMET (&)

FRERSH
HE-_Z——F+=-A=+—8L
FE - EAFTEHLEEZTRD
20,787,000 T (= T — T F: 4
4,084000870) 2IRE - BEHFRZF
——F+Z A=+ —RAWEFRE (=
T —ZTF : #J4,084,00070) MK X
o

M.FEEALRS

MRt Z SRR A D AT EEE S - K
FERAFEGETUATEREAEALR
5

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Sales to an associate HE T —EBE AT 5,742 12,785
Purchases from associates mE N AR 119,326 150,637
Consultancy fee income received U B — [ Bt & R &)
from an associate ZEREBIA 55,876 71,019
Sales of property, plant and Mg AR E
equipment to an associate YE -~ BB REE 53,827 -
Notes: BfsE
(@ The sales to an associate and purchases from associates were (a) HETHEBEQRRABEARIRED

(b)

made under normal commercial terms.

Consultancy fee income received is determined by mutually
agreed term between the associate and the Group.

Consideration for sales of property, plant and equipment is
determined by mutually agreed term between the associate and
the Group.

HRIE— AR IRTETT

i

(b) TUCHUEERR B U A TR LB & A R B
B R E 2 GRETE ©

© HEME BERRBZARENRZBE
RAEREEM AR B E 2 GEREE -

LL0z Woday [enuuy Mtz — —F = ‘ paywi sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS AR &

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the following balances with
related parties were included in:

34.BEALTRE (&)

RBEREAERE - THIEAL 2R
FIA

2011 2010
—Eg——5F —F—=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FETT
Trade and other receivables: B 5 R HAEWFOR
Associates /NG 68,513 173,630
Trade and other payables: Z 5 R EAFERFUE
Associates EERNEY| 35,644 135,971

The amounts due from associates are unsecured and interest
free. An amount of approximately HK$12,972,000 is repayable
within 90 days and the remaining balance has no fixed term of

repayment.

The amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest free and

have no fixed term of repayment.

35.BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, banking facilities of the
Group are mainly secured by the charge over certain bank
deposits (Note 24) and corporate guarantees given by the

Company and certain subsidiaries.

35.

EWEE AR REBAEERBELEE - O
12,972,000/ 7T 2 3R IHZBFR90R W E 8 &
BT HREEETEENR -

ENEBEARRELSERF 2B RTE
B EE N -

RITEE

RZB-—FFR-F——F+A=1—
B AREZRITEEEENETRITE
2 B (M 5E24) WA KA R B R & T
BARRMZ ARERIEER o
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36.COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2011 the Group had the following

36.7KIE

R=T——F+=A=1-0  A%EEZ

commitments: APENT
(a) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (a) REHSHKIE
The Group leases certain of its office and factory premises REEREKLL

under operating lease arrangements. The original lease

terms for the office and factory premises range from one

year to ten years.

HERHFHERETH

RENBENE - EAMREREE
MEZFTHBENTF—E+F -

Total future minimum lease payments under non- RIE AR EEHEAI N ZAK
cancellable operating leases are as follows: HEESB|OT ¢
2011 2010
—B——F —2—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAET
Within one year —FR 19,917 17,882
In the second to fifth years, F_EERF
inclusive (BIEEREMT) 50,418 49,877
After five years AFE 6,928 15,010
77,263 82,769
(b) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (b) BEAENE
2011 2010
—E——F —F-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Contracted but not provided for: B E]4{B R B4 -
Acquisition of property, plant HWEVE BEK
and equipment B 64,710 8,342

LL0z Woday [enuuy Mtz — —F = ‘ panwi sBUIP|OH DIAWY [2 7 ¥ B B S 36 ‘3‘
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

38.SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8 as

follows:

- Printing of cigarette packages

- Manufacturing of transfer paper and laser film

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and

marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in Note 3 to the financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include corporate
administrative expenses. Segment assets do not include
goodwill, loan receivables, available-for-sale financial assets,
prepayments and deposits and other receivables for general
administrative use. Segment liabilities do not include other

payables and accruals for general administrative use.

The Group accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market

prices.

37.5

38.

%
HAREE

RZE——F+ZRA=+—8  XEEL
BEAEARAAE (ZF—FF &) -

7 ERE#
ARBRE BB RS LN LK EE
THIRIES #55 :

— BREBEHR
- BERRLESRSE

AREZ AL HH BARETAERZE
BRI - RS RE BN AL BT
RS AR MRS R NBLE
L

Ry B & AT BRSBTS R M 3 A
R — B - ﬁ%ﬂ%@mT’?ﬁm%ﬁEﬁ%ﬁ
X DEHEETBREBE  BEER
HEESHEE %Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ%&*
THARZEMERIE - DHPEETE
BEMENFAR —RITRRGRZEAE
A -

:*_
D

o

AEE/D R HERBREARK DR
wzFHERERAFE =J7EH (ARR
THEEL)
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38.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about reportable segment profit, assets and

liabilities:

38. 7 RRE# (4&F)

ERAZ2B M5  EERABZE

Manufacturing  Manufacturing

Printing of Printing of of transfer of transfer
cigarette cigarette paper and paper and
packages packages laser film laser film Total Total
512 BE BBER BBER
BRI BEAR  EAERE  BHENE 5e 5e
20M 2010 20M 2010 201 2010
—E--F& —E--F& —E--F&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 0
TR TR TH7 TR T
Year ended 31 December BET-R=1-8
HEE
Revenue from external customers — REJNIRE 2 Mz 3,333,193 2572372 36,808 78,789 3,370,001 2,651,161
Inter-segment revenue PEREkE - - - 66,598 - 66,598
Segment profi AEEH 782,758 710761 7,261 1,988 790,019 712749
Interest income VN 17,520 10,985 126 1,740 17,646 12725
Interest expenses k5 - (217) - - - (217)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (72,264) (70321) (804) (19724) (73,068) (90,045)
Share of profit of associates [N 55,956 85420 4,832 - 60,788 85420
Income tax expenses FEHER (190,315) (142495) (524) (685) (190,839) (143180)
Additions to segment RENTHERD
non-current assets BE 33,407 52,186 1,096 259 34,503 52,445
As at 31 December R+=A=t+-H
Segment assets DEEE 2,713,493 2,233,008 54,660 318224 2,768,153 2551832
Segment liabilities BERE (684,108) (741,851) (1,432) (77,39) (685,540) (819,247)
Interests in associates KB NA R 120,000 117615 25,763 - 145,763 117615

LLOz Moday |enuuy M ——&— ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ Xl B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘3
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38.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 38.02pER (&)

ERA2Hs MW - B BERA

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,

‘Lmumwmmwvﬁﬁé——iz ‘pwww&mewva@m%Mﬁﬂﬁ‘

assets and liabilities:

R 0k -

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue Ik
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 235 HpAELU S 3,370,001 2,717,759
Elimination of inter-segment revenue ¥4 S0 U2 - (66,598)
Consolidated revenue fra e 3,370,001 2,651,161
Profit or loss B
Total profit or loss of reportable A 2|y 28
segments 1a%s 790,019 712,749
Other profit or loss Efbigazs (208,569) (111,996)
Consolidated profit for the year REEZLRE & 581,450 600,753
Assets EE
Total assets of reportable segments AIERDIABEE 2,768,153 2,551,832
Goodwill EES 2,627,422 2,538,229
Loan receivables JEURE R 301,719 308,536
Available-for-sale financial assets A E SR EE 1,701 1,631
Other assets Hih&E 862,576 583,898
Consolidated total assets IREBEE 6,561,571 5,984,126
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments — A] 2/ ZpEE & (685,540) (819,247)
Other liabilities HBaE (1,330,944) (1,146,764)
Consolidated total liabilities FERaE (2,016,484) (1,966,011)
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38.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION:

Over 90% of the Group’s revenue and assets are derived from

customers and operations based in the PRC and accordingly,

no further analysis of the Group's geographical information is

disclosed.

38. 0 EER ()
HWEEH

REBEOW K M EERBUNTE
BEPRER  RittEE— P WEAEE
iR ER DT -

Revenue from major customers: REFBRPZIE -

2011 2010
—E——F —F-F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Printing of cigarette packages & E R

Customer A EFH 1,511,491 975,057
Customer B 2R 604,580 535,353
Customer C 2FER 436,090 479,190
Customer D ZEET 348,511 300,316

LL0z Woday [enuuy Mtz — —F = ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ Xl B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘E
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39.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011

are as follows:

30.FEMMEB AR

RZF——%+=R=

AFB DT -

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued and fully
paid-up
share capital/

Percentage of ownership

Name operation registered capital interest/profit sharing Principal activities
L Lop 5 TilE Bl
EMRL BERTRAZ Direct Indirect
% SMREERE  BREEREXR Hi% MiE  TEER
AMVIG Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary 100% - Investment holding
("BVI") HK$1,000
AREEBR AR EERTES ERK REER
([RBELEE]) 100087
AMVIG Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
HK$6,060,100
BREEBR AR & ERK REZK
6,060,1007% 7T
Beijing Leigh-Mardon Pacific PRC Registered capital - 83% Printing of
Packaging Co, Ltd. USD13,000,000 cigarette packages
("Beijing LMPP") (Note a)
ERREFIRFEREFRLA  PE BRIEEN BRI
(MHeRREBZ) (M3ta) 13,000,0005 7T
Bellgate International Limited BVI Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
HK$509,040,001
EBRELES Lidik REER
509,040,001 7T
Charm Profit Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
HK$1
REEEBREAR BE il RERR
BT
Dongguan KWG Colour Printing ~ PRC Registered capital - 100% Printing of
Co,, Ltd ('DG KWG") # (Note b) HK$40,000,000 cigarette packages
RRBRYIERAF M T E AR BEaENR
(TREZBR]) # (o) 40,000,003 7
Famous Plus Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
HK$100
B2 BB TER RERR

1008 7T

T-HAXIEWBR
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39.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

30.FEMBAT (

N
=

/M= B

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued and fully
paid-up
share capital/

Percentage of ownership

177
b
e
i
i:ﬁ:r
pxii
Name operation registered capital interest/profit sharing Principal activities E
L Lop - TilE Bl z
S, BRTRAR Direct Indirect =
8 afREEeE  REERER B M TEEK g
:
Glory Express International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Investment holding §
HKS2 g
BB AR AR BB LERET REER —T
[
Hangzhou Weicheng Printing PRC Registered capital - 100% Printing of cigarette u)laI
Co,, Ltd ("HZ Weicheng") (Note c) UsD10,000,000 packages _FIR
mMNEKEIRIBRAR HE TMER BEA %R gl
(THuM R ) (HsEc) 10,000 0005 7¢ >
=)
c
Kunming World Grand (Note d) PRC Registered capital - 100% Printing of cigarette :;
USD7,500,000 packages 8
EHER (Fid) HE B BEDEDR 3
7,500,000 7T -l
Leigh-Mardon Pacific Singapore Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
Packaging Pte Ltd. 5G$85,495,870
GiiliIEe LBk REER
85,495,870 ML
Mega Vision Enterprises Limited BV Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
UsD1
RBRUHES TERIET REER
Qingdao Leigh-Mardon Packaging  PRC Registered capital - 60% Printing of cigarette
Co,, Ltd ("Qingdao LMPP") (Note e) UsD15,515,000 packages
EEREAOREARAR (58 +H BRIEEN BEaENR
REH) (Hite) 15,515,000%7C
World Grand Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
HK$13,333,333
(£33 BE il RERR
13,333,333 7T
Xian Great Sky Laser Hologram PRC Registered capital - 63%/51% Manufacturing of laser
Co., Ltd ("Xian Hologram") # RMB7,140,000 film
(Note f)
BAZARAREGER R h FHi B RETERE
(TAZAKX]) # (M3Ef) ARHE7,140,0007C
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39.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Beijing LMPP is a sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise with
an operating period of 50 years commencing from 12 May 1995.

DG KWG is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with an operating
period of 25 years commencing from 15 February 2007.

HZ Weicheng is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with an
operating period of 30 years commencing from 30 March 1996.

Kunming World Grand is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with
an operating period of 20 years commencing from 7 March 2002.

Qingdao LMPP is a sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise
with an operating period of 30 years commencing from 19 May
1993.

Xian Hologram is a sino-foreign cooperative joint venture
enterprise with an operating period of 10 years commencing from
11 November 2004.

The English names of this company represents management’s
best efforts at translating the Chinese names of these companies
as no English names have been registered.

40.APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2012.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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0.FEMEBAT (££)
MI5E -

(@)

40.38

ERBEHRTIIAEEERLE  KEH
H—NAREFAA+ = B AH50%F -

R BRANEBENSE  KEHHE-T
THE_A+RBBAESF -

MINERBINEBERE  KEBHH—N
NANEZ A=+ B AHIZ0%F -

ERERAIGBECE KEHAE-T
T-F= At HEHAE0F -

EEREHRTINGERLEDE  KEH
B—AN=FAA TR EF BH30F -

BERARRBTIEGIERLEDE  KEHH
—ETNF+—A+— BB REI0F -

ZENPAMEGEM A - EEXEH
TREREBREEP X EEENBZFMAK

BE R ER

BRREN —_E——F=A -+ HLBEE
EgHERIRET)E -



SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MBERBE

The following is a summary of the results and of the assets and

liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out in Notes

UTRAREZXEREERBEHRE - iR
T XK R EE RS

below:
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+-ALFE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—g--& "ET-BF REAF CZEEN —FTLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAL TEL FAL FAEL
RESULTS ES
Turnover ¥R
Cigarette packages BERE 3,333,193 2,572,372 2,830,383 2,796,994 1,830,536
Transfer paper and laser film  EB4 R ESTE 36,808 78789 144,802 325,890 301,785
3,370,001 2,651,161 2,975,185 3,122,884 2132321
Profit before share of profits K&t ELEE S A7)
of associates MR A Al 763,568 691,965 607,239 597,352 396,795
Share of profit of associates  FE{REEE ARG F 60,788 85,420 80,608 172,878 71,152
Profit before tax BTN 824,356 777,385 687,847 770,230 467,947
Income tax expenses PSS (242,906) (176,632) (133,010) (147,160) (68,044)
Profit for the year AEEEF 581,450 600,753 554,837 623,070 399,903
Attributable to: AT &7 LG
Owners of the Company AREEAA 547,823 570914 365,119 467,303 353,837
Non-controlling interests eS| RS 33,627 29,839 189,718 155,767 46,066
581,450 600,753 554,837 623,070 399,903

LL0z Woday [enuuy Mtz — —F = ‘ paywiI sBUIP|OH DIAWY [\ ¥l B 3 T2k e 3¢ ‘Es‘




SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERBE

180
% As at 31 December
> —B=+4+-—
& W+=-A=+-H
= 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
B —§--% -I-TF CTThE  “TIN\F CTTLE
al
> HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5 FHT THT THT TET THT
z
=5
a
l ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ EEREfE
3
2
Non-current assets FEnBEE 3,813,659 3,770,843 3,702,686 6,048,838 4660,299
Jl @ Current assets MEBEE 2,747,912 2,213,283 4261637 2,308,902 2,123,536
I Current liabilities TEaE (1,178,941) (1,090,629) (1,417,846) (1,871,458) (1,350,697)
E Non-current liabilities ERBER (837,543) (875,382) (760,815) (911,068) (1,340,532)
#
z
2 Total equity EREE 4,545,087 4,018,115 5,785,662 5575214 4,092,606
2
<]
S Attributable to: ATE RS
S Owners of the Company RATREBA 4,354,253 3,838,887 5,623,499 5,275,412 3835416
Non-controlling interests IR 190,834 179,228 162,163 299,802 257,190
4,545,087 4,018,115 5,785,662 5,575,214 4,092,606

Note: Amounts disclosed in the summary of financial information for prior Mz - BB BEARBE Y BEEESEIHE
years were extracted from the annual report for the year ended 31 BEBEZE-_TZ-—ZF+_A=+—-HILFEZ
December 2010. FEIR o
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